٦	Γh	e	S	er	าล	te

Legal and Constitutional Affairs Legislation Committee

National Security Legislation Amendment Bill 2010 [Provisions] Parliamentary Joint Committee on Law Enforcement Bill 2010 [Provisions]



MEMBERS OF THE COMMITTEE

Members

Senator Patricia Crossin, Chair, ALP, NT

Senator Guy Barnett, Deputy Chair, LP, TAS

Senator David Feeney, ALP, VIC

Senator Scott Ludlam, AG, WA

Senator Gavin Marshall, ALP, VIC

Senator Stephen Parry, LP, TAS

Secretariat

Ms Julie Dennett Secretary

Ms Monika Sheppard Senior Research Officer

Ms Margaret Cahill Research Officer

Ms Kate Middleton Executive Assistant

Suite S1. 61 Telephone: (02) 6277 3560

Parliament House Fax: (02) 6277 5794

CANBERRA ACT 2600 Email: legcon.sen@aph.gov.au

Table of Contents

MEMBERS OF THE COMMITTEE iii				
ABBREVIATIONS	vii			
RECOMMENDATIONS	ix			
CHAPTER 1	1			
Introduction	1			
Purpose of the Bill	1			
Conduct of the inquiry	2			
Acknowledgement	2			
Scope of the report	3			
Notes on references	3			
CHAPTER 2	5			
Overview of the bills	5			
National Security Legislation Amendment Bill 2010	5			
Parliamentary Joint Committee on Law Enforcement Bill 2010	13			
CHAPTER 3	15			
Key issues – National Security Legislation Amendment Bill 2010	15			
Discussion paper	15			
Treason and urging violence offences	18			
Terrorist organisations	29			
Pre-charge detention	31			
Emergency entry to premises	39			
Presumption against bail for terrorism offences	43			
Extended notification requirements under the NSI Act	44			
CHAPTER 4	47			

Key issues - Parliamentary Joint Committee on Law Enforcement Bill 2	010.47
Functions of the PJC-LE	47
Ability of the PJC-LE to fulfil its functions	49
Committee view	52
ADDITIONAL COMMENTS BY LIBERAL SENATORS	57
DISSENTING REPORT BY AUSTRALIAN GREENS	61
APPENDIX 1	65
SUBMISSIONS RECEIVED	65
APPENDIX 2	67
WITNESSES WHO APPEARED BEFORE THE COMMITTEE	67

ABBREVIATIONS

ACC Australian Crime Commission

ACC Act Australian Crime Commission Act 2002

AFP Australian Federal Police

AFP Act Australian Federal Police Act 1979

AFPA Australian Federal Police Association

AHRC Australian Human Rights Commission

ALHR Australian Lawyers for Human Rights

ALRC Australian Law Reform Commission

Attorney-General The Hon. Robert McClelland MP

Castan Centre Castan Centre for Human Rights Law, Monash

University

CEO Chief Executive Officer of the Australian Crime

Commission

committee Legal and Constitutional Affairs Legislation

Committee

Crimes Act Crimes Act 1914

Criminal Code Criminal Code Act 1995

Department Attorney-General's Department

Discussion Paper National Security Discussion Paper

ECAJ Executive Council of Australian Jewry

Gilbert & Tobin Gilbert & Tobin Centre of Public Law

Law Council Law Council of Australia

LE Bill Parliamentary Joint Committee on Law

Enforcement Bill 2010

NACLC National Association for Community Legal Centres

NS Bill National Security Legislation Amendment Bill

2010

NSI Act National Security Information (Criminal and Civil

Proceedings) Act 2004

PJC-ACC Parliamentary Joint Committee on the Australian

Crime Commission

PJC-LE Parliamentary Joint Committee on Law

Enforcement

RECOMMENDATIONS

Recommendation 1

4.35 The committee recommends that the Attorney General's Department revise and reissue the Explanatory Memorandum to the National Security Legislation Amendment Bill 2010 to clarify the reasons for including proposed sections 80.2A and 80.2B in Chapter 5 (Security of the Commonwealth) of the Criminal Code Act 1995.

Recommendation 2

4.36 The committee recommends that proposed subsection 80.3(3) of the National Security Legislation Amendment Bill 2010 be amended to remove the element of 'good faith' from the proposed defence.

Recommendation 3

4.37 The committee recommends that the Australian Law Reform Commission conduct a public inquiry into the pre charge detention regime. This review should examine, among other things, what period of pre charge detention is 'reasonably necessary' to balance the competing interests of criminal investigations and individuals' right to liberty, as well as a straightforward legislative framework for a pre charge detention regime.

Recommendation 4

- 4.38 In addition to Recommendation 3, the committee recommends that the pre charge detention regime set out in the National Security Legislation Amendment Bill 2010 be amended to limit the amount of time that a person can be held in pre charge detention by:
 - retaining the investigation period as set out in proposed subsection 23DB(5) and proposed section 23DB(F) (a total of 24 hours);
 - retaining the investigative dead time provisions as set out in proposed section 23DB but amending proposed subsection 23DB(11) to reflect a 3 day time limit; and
 - retaining the down time provisions relevant to the particular needs of an accused as set out in proposed subsection 23DB(9).

Recommendation 5

4.39 In relation to the Parliamentary Joint Committee on Law Enforcement Bill 2010, the committee calls on the Attorney General to provide a ministerial direction or additional materials to explain the circumstances in which the Chief Executive Officer of the Australian Crime Commission and the Commissioner of

the Australian Federal Police ought to proactively report matters to the Parliamentary Joint Committee on Law Enforcement.

Recommendation 6

4.40 Subject to the above recommendations, the committee recommends that the Senate pass the National Security Legislation Amendment Bill 2010 and the Parliamentary Joint Committee on Law Enforcement Bill 2010.

CHAPTER 1

Introduction

Purpose of the Bill

- 1.1 On 18 March 2010, the Senate jointly referred the National Security Legislation Amendment Bill 2010 (NS Bill) and the Parliamentary Joint Committee on Law Enforcement Bill 2010 (LE Bill) to the Legal and Constitutional Affairs Legislation Committee for inquiry and report by 15 June 2010. On 15 June 2010, the Senate agreed to extend the reporting date until 17 June 2010. The two bills were introduced in the House of Representatives on 18 March 2010 by the Attorney-General, the Hon. Robert McClelland MP.
- 1.2 The NS Bill implements a package of reforms to Australia's national security and counter-terrorism legislation, as announced by the Australian Government in August 2009.² Many of the proposed reforms are a response to independent and bipartisan parliamentary committee reviews of Australia's national security and counter-terrorism legislation. These reviews are the:
 - Inquiry by the Hon. John Clarke QC into the case of Dr Mohamed Haneef (November 2008);
 - Inquiry into the proscription of 'terrorist organisations' under the Australian Criminal Code by the Parliamentary Joint Committee on Intelligence and Security (September 2007);
 - Review of Security and Counter-Terrorism Legislation by the Parliamentary Joint Committee on Intelligence and Security (December 2006); and
 - Review of Sedition Laws in Australia by the Australian Law Reform Commission (July 2006).³
- 1.3 The NS Bill will primarily amend the *Criminal Code Act 1995* (Criminal Code), the *Crimes Act 1914* (Crimes Act), the *Charter of the United Nations Act 1945*, the *National Security Information (Criminal and Civil Proceedings) Act 2004* (NSI Act) and the *Inspector-General of Intelligence and Security Act 1986*.
- 1.4 According to the Attorney-General, the reforms in the NS Bill:

¹ Journals of the Senate, No. 119 – 18 March 2010, p. 3398.

The Hon. Robert McClelland MP, Attorney-General, 'National Security Legislation Discussion Paper', Media Release, 12 August 2009.

³ Explanatory Memorandum, National Security Legislation Amendment Bill 2010, p. 1.

- ...are designed to give the Australian community confidence that our counter-terrorism laws are precise, appropriately tailored and that our law enforcement and security agencies have the investigative tools they need to counter terrorism.⁴
- 1.5 The LE Bill also forms part of the package of legislative reform, and aims to promote transparency and ensure that Australian laws are appropriately accountable in their operation.⁵ This bill establishes the Parliamentary Joint Committee on Law Enforcement (PJC-LE) and sets out its functions and administrative arrangements. The PJC-LE replaces and extends the functions of the current Parliamentary Joint Committee on the Australian Crime Commission (PJC-ACC). Its responsibilities will include:
 - the provision of broad parliamentary oversight of the Australian Federal Police (AFP) and the Australian Crime Commission (ACC);
 - the examination of trends and changes in criminal activities; and
 - inquiry into any question in connection with the functions of the PJC-LE that is referred by either House of Parliament. 6

Conduct of the inquiry

- 1.6 The committee advertised its inquiry in *The Australian* on 24 March 2010, 7 April 2010 and 21 April 2010, and details of the inquiry, the bills and associated documents were placed on the committee's website. The committee also wrote to 47 organisations and individuals inviting submissions by 30 April 2010.
- 1.7 The committee received 23 submissions, which are listed at Appendix 1 and available online at http://www.aph.gov.au/senate/committee/legcon_ctte/index.htm.
- 1.8 The committee held a public hearing in Melbourne on 21 May 2010.
- 1.9 A list of witnesses who appeared at the hearing is at Appendix 2, and copies of the *Hansard* transcript are available through the internet at http://www.aph.gov.au/hansard.

Acknowledgement

1.10 The committee thanks those organisations and individuals who made submissions and gave evidence at the public hearing.

⁴ The Hon. Robert McClelland MP, Attorney-General, *House Hansard*, 18 March 2010, p. 3.

⁵ The Hon. Robert McClelland MP, Attorney-General, *House Hansard*, 18 March 2010, p. 6.

⁶ Explanatory Memorandum, Parliamentary Joint Committee on Law Enforcement Bill 2010, p. 1.

Scope of the report

1.11 Chapter 2 provides a brief overview of the bills; Chapter 3 discusses the key issues raised in submissions and evidence in respect of the NS Bill; and Chapter 4 discusses the main issues raised in respect of the LE Bill, as well as providing the committee's conclusions and recommendations.

Notes on references

1.12 References in this report are to individual submissions as received by the committee, not to a bound volume. References to committee *Hansard* are to the proof *Hansard*: page numbers may vary between the proof and the official *Hansard*.

CHAPTER 2

Overview of the bills

2.1 This chapter briefly describes some of the main provisions in the NS Bill and the LE Bill.

National Security Legislation Amendment Bill 2010

- 2.2 The NS Bill comprises 10 schedules of amendments. Each schedule addresses a specific set of reforms and these are:
 - Schedule 1 treason and urging violence;
 - Schedule 2 terrorism;
 - Schedule 3 investigation of Commonwealth offences;
 - Schedule 4 powers to search premises in relation to terrorism offences;
 - Schedule 5 re-entry of premises in an emergency situation;
 - Schedule 6 amendments relating to bail;
 - Schedule 7 listings under the *Charter of the United Nations Act 1945*;
 - Schedule 8 amendments relating to the disclosure of national security information in criminal and civil proceedings;
 - Schedule 9 functions of the Inspector-General of Intelligence and Security; and
 - Schedule 10 consequential amendments relating to the establishment of the PJC-LE.
- 2.3 Some of these provisions are lengthy and quite detailed. Accordingly, Chapter 2 highlights only the background, objectives and key amendments of those schedules subsequently discussed in Chapters 3 and 4.

Treason and urging violence

2.4 Part 1 of Schedule 1 repeals existing offences in the Crimes Act and amends existing treason and sedition (now called 'urging violence') offences in Division 80 of the Criminal Code. Part 2 of Schedule 1 inserts new offences of urging violence against groups and members of groups into the Criminal Code.

2.5 The proposed amendments are the Australian Government's response to the recommendations from various reviews¹ and take into account input received as a result of public consultation on the exposure draft NS Bill.²

Summary of key amendments

- 2.6 The key amendments to be made under Part 1 of Schedule 1 are the:
 - insertion of new section 80.1AA of the Criminal Code, creating new offences for treason (for example, materially assisting enemies);
 - repeal and replacement of subsection 80.2(1) of the Criminal Code, creating the offence of urging the overthrow of the Constitution or government by force or violence;
 - repeal and replacement of subsection 80.2(3) of the Criminal Code, creating the offence of urging interference in parliamentary elections or constitutional referenda by force or violence; and
 - addition of new subsection 80.3(3) of the Criminal Code, providing additional matters to which a court may have regard when considering a defence under subsection 80.3(1) to the urging violence offences in Subdivision C (Urging Violence) of Division 80.³
- 2.7 The key amendments to be made under Part 2 of Schedule 1 are the:
 - insertion of new section 80.2A of the Criminal Code, creating new offences for urging violence against groups; and
 - insertion of new section 80.2B, creating new offences for urging violence against members of groups.⁴

Terrorism

2.8 Parts 1-2 of Schedule 2 primarily amend Part 5.3 (Terrorism) of the Criminal Code. Part 1 focuses on Division 102 (Definitions), and Part 2 focuses on definitions in Division 105 (Preventative detention orders), Division 390 (Criminal associations and organisations) and the Dictionary of the Criminal Code. Part 3 of Schedule 2 contains a related amendment that is contingent upon enactment of the LE Bill.

Australian Law Reform Commission, *Fighting Words: A Review of Sedition Laws in Australia*, September 2006, Recommendations 10-1 to 10-5; Security Legislation Review Committee (Sheller Committee), *Report of the Security Legislation Review Committee*, June 2006; and Parliamentary Joint Committee on Intelligence and Security, *Review of Security and Counter-Terrorism Legislation*, December 2006.

² Explanatory Memorandum, National Security Legislation Amendment Bill 2010, p. 5.

³ Items 15, 18, 20 and 28, respectively, of Schedule 1 of the NS Bill.

⁴ Item 35 of Schedule 1 of the NS Bill.

- 2.9 The proposed amendments in Parts 1-2 comprise the Australian Government's response to a recommendation from the Parliamentary Joint Committee on Intelligence and Security⁵ and amendments agreed by the majority of state and territory governments in the Inter-governmental Agreement on Counter-Terrorism Laws.⁶
- 2.10 The Explanatory Memorandum to the NS Bill additionally explains that the Part 2 amendments implement the Australian Government's policy of ensuring equality of same-sex partnerships in Commonwealth legislation:

The proposed amendments ensure that the definitions in the *Acts Interpretation Act 1901* of de facto partner, child, step-parent and step-child apply or are replicated in the Criminal Code. These definitions are important in the Criminal Code as they apply to the terrorist organisation association offence in section 102.8 and to the preventative detention regime in Division 105 of Part 5.3 of the Criminal Code.⁷

Summary of key amendments

- 2.11 The key amendment to be made under Part 1 of Schedule 2 is the amendment of subsection 102.1(3) to extend the period of a regulation listing a terrorist organisation from two to three years.⁸
- 2.12 The key amendments to be made under Part 2 of Schedule 2 are the:
 - addition of new subsection 100.5(3) of the Criminal Code, enabling application of the *Acts Interpretation Act 1901* to the Part;
 - amendment of the definition of 'close family member' to align paragraph 102.1(1)(a) of the Criminal Code with the *Acts Interpretation Act 1901*;
 - amendment of the definition of 'family member' to align paragraph 105.35(3)(a) of the Criminal Code with the *Acts Interpretation Act 1901*; and
 - repeal of the definitions of 'child', 'de facto partner', 'parent', 'step-child' and 'step-parent' in subsection 390.1(1) of the Criminal Code and insertion of new definitions into the Dictionary of the Criminal Code. 9

9 Items 7, 8, 11, 13-18 and 19-23 of Schedule 2 of the NS Bill.

Parliamentary Joint Committee on Intelligence and Security, *Inquiry into the Terrorist Organisation Listing Provisions of the Criminal Code Act 1995*, September 2007, Recommendation 6.

⁶ The Hon. Robert McClelland MP, Attorney-General, *House Hansard*, 18 March 2010, p. 4.

⁷ Explanatory Memorandum, National Security Legislation Amendment Bill 2010, p. 13.

⁸ Item 3 of Schedule 2 of the NS Bill.

Investigation of Commonwealth offences

- 2.13 Schedule 3 amends Part 1C (Investigation of Commonwealth offences) of the Crimes Act. The amendments are the Australian Government's direct response to the findings of the Inquiry by the Hon. John Clarke QC into the case of Dr Mohamed Haneef.¹⁰
- 2.14 According to the Explanatory Memorandum to the NS Bill, the proposed amendments will clarify the original policy intent of the terrorism investigation powers, which were inserted into the Crimes Act by the *Anti-Terrorism Act 2004*, and will improve the practical operation of Part 1C of the Crimes Act by:
 - clarifying the interaction between the power of arrest without warrant under section 3W and the powers of investigation under Part 1C;
 - setting a maximum seven day limit on the amount of time that can be specified by a magistrate and disregarded from the investigation period when a person has been arrested for a terrorism offence;
 - clarifying how the investigation period and time that is disregarded from the investigation period are calculated; and
 - clarifying the procedures that apply when making an application to extend the period of investigation or apply for a period of specified disregarded time, including the enhancement of safeguards.¹¹

Summary of key amendments

- 2.15 The key amendments to be made to Part 1C of the Crimes Act are:
 - insertion of new Subdivision A (Non-terrorism offences) and new Subdivision B (Terrorism offences) into Division 2, creating two distinct categories of Commonwealth offences; 12
 - repeal and replacement of subsection 23C(7), by replicating the existing categories of time that may be disregarded from the investigation period (maximum 12 hours), reinforcing that the time may only be disregarded if it is a reasonable period during which questioning of the person is suspended or delayed, and clarifying how disregarded time may be calculated:¹³
 - repeal and replacement of sections 23CA to 23E, covering: in relation to non-terrorism offences

13 Item 13 of Schedule 3 of the NS Bill.

The Hon. Robert McClelland MP, Attorney-General, *House Hansard*, 18 March 2010, p. 4.

Explanatory Memorandum, National Security Legislation Amendment Bill 2010, pp 20-21.

¹² Item 8 of Schedule 3 of the NS Bill.

applications to extend the investigation period and extension of the application period, with the key differences between the existing and new process being that only a magistrate (as opposed to a magistrate, justice of the peace or bail justice) will be able to grant an extension of the investigation period and the inclusion of several amendments to ensure that sufficient procedural safeguards are in place;¹⁴

and in relation to terrorism offences

- the period of investigation if arrested, which is modelled on existing section 23CA with some modifications, including proposed subsection 23DB(11) which sets a cap of seven days on the amount of time that can be disregarded for the investigation period under proposed paragraph 23DB(9)(m);
- the time during which suspension or delay of questioning may be disregarded (both the application process and the time period) which are modelled on existing section 23CB with some modifications; and
- applications may be made for extensions of investigation periods, and magistrates may extend investigation periods, which are similar to the non-terrorism provisions but include the additional requirement for a written application and the written approval of an authorising officer.

Powers to search premises in relation to terrorism offences

- 2.16 Schedule 4 amends Division 3A of Part 1AA (Search, Information Gathering, Arrest and Related Powers) of the Crimes Act. The proposed amendments will provide police with a new power to enter premises without a warrant in emergency circumstances relating to a terrorism offence where there is material present that may pose a risk to the health or safety of the public.
- 2.17 In the second reading speech, the Attorney-General stated:

This is not a general search warrant power. The provisions are appropriately limited in terms of what police may do once they have entered the premises. ¹⁶

¹⁴ Item 15 of Schedule 3 of the NS Bill; and Explanatory Memorandum, National Security Legislation Amendment Bill 2010, p. 27.

¹⁵ Items 8-10 and 16 of Schedule 3 of the NS Bill.

¹⁶ The Hon. Robert McClelland MP, Attorney-General, *House Hansard*, 18 March 2010, p. 4.

Summary of key amendments

- 2.18 The key amendment to be made under Schedule 4 is the insertion of new section 3UEA which includes provisions:
 - enabling a police officer to enter premises without a warrant providing strict criteria are met;
 - limiting the proposed power to searching the premises for a particular thing and seizing a particular thing;
 - allowing a police officer to secure the premises for a period that is reasonably necessary to apply for a search warrant over the premises if, in the course of searching for a particular thing, the police officer finds another thing that they reasonably suspect is relevant to an indictable offence or a summary offence;
 - allowing a police officer to seize another thing, or do anything necessary
 to make the premises safe, if, in the course of searching for a particular
 thing, the police officer suspects on reasonable grounds that it is
 necessary to do so to protect a person's life, health or safety and without
 the authority of a search warrant because the circumstances are serious
 and urgent; and
 - providing that a police officer may use assistance in exercising a power under the new section, including the use of force against persons and things.¹⁷

Amendments relating to bail

- 2.19 Schedule 6 amends section 15AA (Bail not to be granted in certain cases) of the Crimes Act. The new provisions will ensure that both the prosecution and the defendant have a right to appeal the decision to grant or refuse bail for persons charged with terrorism or other national security offences.
- 2.20 At present, the relevant state and territory laws governing bail proceedings apply in Commonwealth criminal matters (through the application of the *Judiciary Act* 1903). The objective of the Schedule 6 amendments is therefore to:
 - ...establish a nationally consistent right of appeal to overcome limitations and inconsistencies under state and territory bail laws. ¹⁸

Summary of key amendments

2.21 The key amendments to be made by Schedule 6 are the insertion of:

_

¹⁷ Item 4 of Schedule 4 of the NS Bill.

The Hon. Robert McClelland MP, Attorney-General, *House Hansard*, 18 March 2010, p. 4. Also see Explanatory Memorandum, National Security Legislation Amendment Bill 2010, p. 48.

- new subsection 15AA(3A), providing a specific right of appeal for both the prosecution and the defence;
- new subsection 15AA(3C), providing for a stay of the court order granting bail if the prosecution formally indicates an intention to appeal the bail decision immediately after the decision is made; and
- new subsection 15AA(3D), providing that the stay will only last until a decision on the appeal is made, or the prosecution notifies the court they do not intend to pursue an appeal, or until 72 hours has passed, whichever is the least period of time. 19

Amendments relating to the disclosure of national security information in criminal and civil proceedings

- 2.22 Schedule 8 amends Parts 1 (Preliminary), 2 (Interpretation), 3 (Protection of Information whose Disclosure in Federal Criminal Proceedings is Likely to Prejudice...National Security), 3A (Protection of Information whose Disclosure in Civil Proceedings is Likely to Prejudice...National Security), 4 (Security Clearances) and 5 (Offences) of the NSI Act.
- 2.23 According to the Explanatory Memorandum to the NS Bill, the proposed amendments aim to improve the practical operation of the NSI Act and ensure the appropriate protection and disclosure of national security information in criminal and civil proceedings. ²⁰ These provisions fall into five general categories:
 - application of the NSI Act to legal representatives
 Several provisions clarify the application of the NSI Act to the defendant's legal representative in criminal proceedings and a party's legal representative in civil proceedings, including:
 - amendments to ensure that the requirement to give notice to the Attorney-General about the possible disclosure of national security information in a proceeding applies to a defendant's or party's legal representative; and
 - amendments to clarify the application of the NSI Act to a defendant's or party's legal representative;
 - the role of the Attorney-General under the NSI Act

 Some provisions clarify that the Attorney-General, or representative of the Attorney-General:
 - has the ability to attend and be heard during federal criminal or civil proceedings; and

¹⁹ Item 1 of Schedule 6 of the NS Bill. These provisions are similar to some existing state laws, for example, section 25A of the *Bail Act 1978* (NSW) and section 16 of the *Bail Act 1985* (SA).

²⁰ Explanatory Memorandum, National Security Legislation Amendment Bill 2010, p. 52.

- be able to be a party to consent arrangements made in relation to the protection of national security material;
- flexibility and efficiency in the conduct of court proceedings

A number of the provisions clarify court procedures to ensure processes are flexible and efficient, including:

- clarification that the NSI Act does not exclude or modify the general power of a court to uphold a claim of public interest immunity, to make an order under section 93.2 of the Criminal Code or to make other protective orders such as closed hearings and non-publication orders;
- clarification that pre-trial hearings may be held at any stage of a proceeding, and that pre-trial hearings may be used to consider issues relating to the disclosure, protection, storage, handling or destruction of national security information;
- clarification the application of the NSI Act to proceedings once the NSI Act has been invoked; and
- defining 'court official' to clarify who can be present as a court official in closed hearings under sections 29 and 38I of the NSI Act;
- facilitation of agreements under sections 22 and 38B

Agreements under sections 22 and 38B of the NSI Act concern arrangements about the disclosure of national security information in proceedings. The proposed provisions are intended to facilitate better agreement-making by clarifying:

- the policy intention behind the NSI Act: that is, if possible, that it is preferable that parties enter into a section 22 arrangement, compared to the court issuing a certificate;
- who is permitted to enter into a section 22 arrangement; and
- section 22 arrangements cover the disclosure of national security information and may also cover the protection, storage, handling and destruction of national security information;
- avoidance of unnecessary procedures

A number of amendments are designed to streamline procedures and minimise unnecessary processes, including clarification that:

- for the purposes of the NSI Act, re-trials should be considered to be part of the same proceeding as the trial;
- once the Attorney-General is aware of a potential disclosure of national security information, it is not necessary to provide notice again through other processes; and

- it is only necessary to adjourn those parts of the proceedings which may involve a disclosure of national security information. ²¹

Parliamentary Joint Committee on Law Enforcement Bill 2010

2.24 The LE Bill comprises three Parts: Part 1 deals with preliminary matters; Part 2 contains the substantive provisions of the bill; and Part 3 sets out one miscellaneous provision. For the purposes of the inquiry, only Part 2 of the LE Bill is examined in detail.

Key provisions of the LE Bill

- 2.25 There are five key provisions in Part 2 of the LE Bill:
 - clause 5, setting out the administrative arrangements for establishing the PJC-LE and its membership for each Parliament;
 - clause 6, providing for all matters relating to the powers and proceedings of the PJC-LE to be determined by resolution of both Houses of Parliament;
 - clause 7, setting out the functions of the PJC-LE and identifying the limitations on its functions;²²
 - clause 8, requiring the Chief Executive Officer of the ACC (CEO) to comply with a request from the PJC-LE to provide information in relation to ACC operations and investigations, including those which have been concluded. Upon request, and at such other times as appropriate, the CEO must also inform the PJC-LE about the general performance of the ACC's functions. Subclause 8(2) provides the CEO with discretion not to comply with a request from the PJC-LE if satisfied that the information is 'sensitive information' (as defined) and the public interest in giving the information to the PJC-LE would be outweighed by certain prejudicial consequences;
 - clause 9, replicating clause 8 in relation to the Commissioner of the AFP; and
 - clause 10, providing that the PJC-LE must meet in private at least once in each calendar year to receive a briefing from the Commonwealth Ombudsman about the involvement of the ACC and AFP in controlled operations under Part IAB of the *Crimes Act 1914*.

²¹ Explanatory Memorandum, National Security Legislation Amendment Bill 2010, pp 52-53.

These functions and limitations are identical to those currently set out in subsections 55(1)-(2) of the *Australian Crime Commission Act 2002*, except that the LE Bill extends the functions to the AFP.

CHAPTER 3

Key issues – National Security Legislation Amendment Bill 2010

- 3.1 In a general sense, submitters and witnesses commended the Australian Government for initiating various reviews of Australia's national security and counter-terrorism laws. In relation to the NS Bill specifically, there was support for certain amendments resulting from independent and bipartisan parliamentary committee reviews. However, there was also strong opposition to certain amendments. This chapter discusses key concerns raised in submissions and evidence relating to:
 - elements of the National Security Discussion Paper (Discussion Paper) not addressed in the NS Bill;
 - treason and urging violence offences;
 - terrorist organisations;
 - pre-charge detention;
 - emergency entry to premises;
 - presumption against bail for terrorism offences; and
 - extended notification requirements under the NSI Act.

Discussion paper

- 3.2 On 12 August 2009, the Attorney-General released a discussion paper on proposed legislative reforms to Australia's counter-terrorism and national security legislation. The Discussion Paper, which included the draft NS Bill and draft LE Bill, called for submissions by 9 October 2009. 50 submissions were subsequently received by the Attorney-General's Department (Department), 42 of which were published on the Department's website. ¹
- 3.3 Several submitters and witnesses told the committee that issues raised and recommendations made in those submissions are not addressed in the NS Bill. The comments referred to both the number and type of matters outstanding.
- 3.4 Australian Lawyers for Human Rights (ALHR), for example, submitted:

Attorney-General's Department, *Submission 12*, p. 2; and <a href="http://www.ag.gov.au/www/agd/agd.nsf/Page/Consultationsreformsandreviews_Nationalsecuritylegislation-publicconsultation_SubmissionstotheNationalSecurityLegislationPublicConsultation} (accessed 14 May 2010).

...a comparison of the draft legislation annexed to the 2009 Discussion Paper and the NS[L]A and PJCLE Bills 2010 reveals that most of those submissions have fallen on deaf ears as far as the government is concerned.²

3.5 The submission from the Gilbert & Tobin Centre of Public Law (Gilbert & Tobin) attached a table setting out specific amendments proposed during the consultation process and changes subsequently made to the NS Bill:

In brief, of the 267 amendments to Australia's anti-terrorism legislation proposed in the Bill, only 66 of these reflect changes made since the Exposure Draft. As the table demonstrates, most of these 66 changes can be described as technical (as opposed to substantive) changes.³

3.6 In relation to the types of matter outstanding, the Law Council of Australia (Law Council) submitted that the NS Bill and LE Bill do not comprehensively reform Australia's counter-terrorism and national security legislation:

For example, the amendments proposed do not address in any way some of the most controversial and concerning aspects of Australia's anti-terror regime such as:

- -the terrorist organisation proscription process;
- -the majority of the terrorist organisation offences;
- -the preparatory terrorism offences;
- -the preventative detention regime;
- -the control orders regime;
- -[the Australian Security Intelligence Organisation's] questioning and detention powers; and
- -telecommunication interception powers, such as B-Party warrants.⁴
- 3.7 Similar comments were made by Gilbert & Tobin:

It is disappointing that the Government has chosen to ignore key arguments and suggestions put in the submissions in relation to fundamental aspects of the proposed legislative amendments. In particular, it is regrettable that it has done so without providing any explanation as to why the initially proposed (and highly problematic) amendments were retained. We feel that such explanations would have been necessary to allow for a meaningful engagement with experts and the community.⁵

² *Submission 11*, p. 2.

³ *Submission 10*, p. 8.

⁴ Submission 22, p. 3. Also see Sydney Centre for International Law, Submission 6, p. 28; and Human Rights Law Resource Centre and Amnesty International, Submission 15, pp 49-52.

⁵ Submission 10, p. 9. Also see Law Society of NSW, Submission 23, p. 4.

- 3.8 The Australian Human Rights Commission (AHRC) contended:
 - ...the Bill does not go far enough to restore the balance between the protection of national security and the protection of basic human rights, such as liberty, which are fundamental to our democracy.⁶
- 3.9 The perception that the NS Bill is neither comprehensive nor substantive, and that little has been done to explain the provisions ultimately introduced into the Parliament, clearly concerned submitters with at least one the National Association of Community Legal Centres (NACLC) questioning whether the Department truly understood and gave due consideration to submissions received as part of the consultation process.⁷

Department response

3.10 In evidence, officers of the Department told the committee that all suggestions and recommendations arising from the Discussion Paper were given very careful consideration. However, the Department emphasised:

...that this exercise is mainly about responding to previous reviews. It is by no means the end of the process. It is obviously an ongoing process of review and reform, and there are other mechanisms coming up in relation to that—like the [Council of Australian Governments] review and the establishment of the independent national security legislation monitor. 8

3.11 The Department further noted that the Australian Government:

...is working with States and Territories to develop and implement a more sophisticated and coordinated national approach to countering violent extremism in Australia. An effective counter-terrorism strategy requires a combination of an effective legal framework, appropriate security and law enforcement responses, and broader strategies to enhance social cohesion and lessen the appeal of the extremist ideologies that fuel terrorism.⁹

3.12 It was primarily proposals concerning Divisions 101 (Terrorism) and 102 (Terrorist organisations) of Part 5.3 of the Criminal Code that stirred the most interest, and in relation to these non-inclusions in the NS Bill, the Department submitted:

Following the public consultation process, certain proposed measures which were to be included in the NSLA Bill were deferred...There were two key reasons for deferring some of the amendments to Part 5.3 of the Criminal Code...[S]ome of the measures required further consideration in consultation with the States and Territories...[and] some of the proposed

7 *Submission 13*, p. 5.

⁶ *Submission 18*, p. 5.

⁸ Ms Annette Willing, Attorney-General's Department, *Committee Hansard*, 21 May 2010, p. 45.

⁹ *Submission 12*, p. 5.

amendments will require the States and Territories to amend their reference legislation for the measures to be constitutionally supported. ¹⁰

3.13 In particular, departmental officials identified non-terrorist acts and non-terrorist actions relating to terrorist acts as matters which are not supported by the existing reference legislation:

The definition of a terrorist act in the state legislation is identical to the definition in the Commonwealth Criminal Code. Accordingly, changing the notion of a terrorist act beyond that reflected in the existing definition is not supported by the referred power to amend the text of part 5.3 of the code.

. . .

[O]ur view is that the proposed amendments to the definition of a terrorist act and the proposed hoax offence would not be supported by the existing state referral of power.¹¹

3.14 However, the committee notes that Gilbert & Tobin did not agree with such assertions. In its submission, Gilbert & Tobin argued that it is not necessary for the states and territories to amend their reference legislation before the Commonwealth can make changes to its own legislation:

The Commonwealth possesses sufficient power under the 'amendment references' of the States to carry out those changes originally proposed in the Discussion paper—and any others it may also care to devise. Any valid requirement for State approval does not require legislative enactment at the State level, but merely executive assent.

The High Court has confirmed that the Commonwealth possesses substantial powers to legislate with respect to terrorism using s 51(vi) [the defence power] and there is every reason to suspect that the proposed amendments which the Attorney-General has deferred would fall within the scope of this power, rendering resort to the referrals power unnecessary in any case. ¹²

Treason and urging violence offences

3.15 Part 1 of Schedule 1 amends existing treason and urging violence offences in Division 80 of the Criminal Code. Part 2 of Schedule 1 inserts new offences of urging violence against groups and members of groups into the Criminal Code.

10 Submission 12, pp 2-3. Also see the Hon. Robert McClelland MP, Attorney-General, House Hansard, 18 March 2010, p. 5.

¹¹ Ms Annette Willing, Attorney-General's Department, *Committee Hansard*, 21 May 2010, pp 45-46. Also see the Hon. Robert McClelland MP, Attorney-General, *House Hansard*, 18 March 2010, p. 5.

Submission 10, Attachment 2, p. 4. Also see Mr Phillip Boulten SC, Law Council of Australia, Committee Hansard, 21 May 2010, p. 6; and Professor George Williams, Committee Hansard, 21 May 2010, p. 26 for similar arguments.

3.16 The Australian Law Reform Commission (ALRC) stated that Schedule 1 implements the bulk of its recommendations from the *Fighting Words: A Review of Sedition Laws in Australia* report. However, other submitters and witnesses questioned the extent of or manner in which the NS Bill implements those recommendations.

Treason offences

- 3.17 Proposed section 80.1AA of the Criminal Code creates two new offences for treason: assisting enemies at war with the Commonwealth; and assisting countries engaged in armed hostilities against the Australian Defence Force.
- 3.18 The AHRC supported the proposed provisions as:
 - ...[they] will appropriately narrow these offences to ensure only material assistance to an enemy country provided intentionally by a person owing an allegiance to the Commonwealth will constitute treason.¹⁴
- 3.19 However, the key phrase 'material assistance' concerned the Castan Centre for Human Rights Law, Monash University (Castan Centre). Its submission argued that the lack of definition and lack of connection to a physical element produces overly broad offences:

The concept of 'material assistance' ought to be defined to include only direct assistance, such as the provision of troops, funds, arms or other materiel, or intelligence, but to exclude indirect assistance such as the refusal to fight, the provision of humanitarian supplies, etc. ¹⁵

3.20 The Sydney Centre for International Law (Sydney Centre) similarly recommended the inclusion of a definition of 'material assistance' in the NS Bill. It told the committee:

International human rights law and the rule of law (including its principle of fairness) requires that people must be able to prospectively know with sufficient certainty the scope of their criminal liabilities for conduct that they perform. ¹⁶

3.21 At the public hearing, the committee heard that to date there have been no prosecutions in respect of either treason offences or urging violence offences.¹⁷

15 Submission 9, p. 3. Also see Sydney Centre for International Law, Submission 6, p. 2.

¹³ Submission 17, p. 2. Also see Australian Law Reform Commission, Fighting Words: A Review of Sedition Laws in Australia, ALRC Report 104 (2006).

¹⁴ *Submission 18*, p. 33.

¹⁶ *Submission* 6, p. 2.

¹⁷ Mr Phillip Boulten SC, Law Council of Australia, *Committee Hansard*, 21 May 2010, p. 7; Dr Patrick Emerton, *Committee Hansard*, 21 May 2010, p. 29; and Human Rights Law Resource Centre and Amnesty International, *Submission 15*, p. 17.

Urging violence offences

- 3.22 Proposed subsections 80.2(1) and 80.2(3) of the Criminal Code create a new offence for urging violence: urging the overthrow of the Constitution or government by force or violence; and urging interference in parliamentary elections or constitutional referenda by force or violence, respectively.
- 3.23 Several submitters and witnesses did not support the inclusion of urging violence offences within the Criminal Code. Some of these inquiry participants argued that if such offences were to continue to form part of Australian law, they should be properly drafted to achieve a specific purpose. Other participants argued that existing law already covers the criminality targeted by the NS Bill.
- 3.24 The Castan Centre, for example, submitted that proposed subsection 80.2(1):
 - ...overlaps to a large extent with the existing offence of incitement to treachery. While overlap is not total, in respect of those aspects where there is overlap the urging violence offence is broader.

. . .

[T]here are existing offences–such as those found in Divisions 147 and 149 of the Commonwealth Criminal Code, of harming a Commonwealth official because they are such an official, of threatening such harm, and of obstructing Commonwealth officials—which seem more appropriate to protect the proper functioning of [the] Australian government, without threatening with criminal punishment the expression of political dissent.²⁰

3.25 In relation to proposed subsection 80.2(3), the Castan Centre again noted:

...there are other offences that protect the integrity of the formal processes of Australian democracy...

There is, therefore, no need for a distinct offence of the sort created by section 80.2(3) of the Criminal Code. There is especially no need to create such an offence having a maximum penalty that is—at 7 years—considerably greater than the penalty that would apply to anyone convicted of actually committing the urged violence.²¹

For example, Castan Centre for Human Rights Law, Monash University, *Submission 9*, p. 18; Civil Liberties Australia, *Submission 14*, p. 1; National Association of Community Legal Centres, *Submission 13*, p. 7; and Sydney Centre for International Law, *Submission 6*, pp 16-17.

Mr Phillip Boulten SC, Law Council of Australia, *Committee Hansard*, 21 May 2010, p. 7; and Professor George Williams, *Committee Hansard*, 21 May 2010, p. 23.

²⁰ Submission 9, pp 4-5. Also see Liberty Victoria, Submission 8, p. 1; Law Council of Australia, Submission 22, p. 6; Mr Ed Santow, Committee Hansard, 21 May 2010, p. 23; and Sydney Centre for International Law, Submission 6, p. 28 for similar views on existing legislation.

²¹ *Submission* 9, pp 6-7.

3.26 Proposed subsections 80.2(1) and 80.2(3) both provide for penalties of seven years imprisonment, and in passing, the Castan Centre commented:

It is a matter of concern that there has been a general trend to increase very significantly the maximum penalties for national security offences as those offences have been moved from the *Crimes Act 1914* to the *Criminal Code*.

. . .

No policy rationale has been stated for this trend of significantly increasing the severity of penalties. There is an urgent need for review of the severity of the penalties for these Criminal Code offences, none of which has the actual infliction of violence as an element.²²

- 3.27 At the public hearing in Melbourne, departmental officers told the committee:
 - ...the penalties have been worked out based on the fact not that they are linked with terrorism but that they are serious offences that would have major security implications.²³
- 3.28 In response to suggestions that there is no place in the Criminal Code for urging violence offences, the Department submitted:

The sedition offences were reviewed by the Australian Law Reform Commission (ALRC) in 2006. As part of this review, the ALRC considered the issue that some thought it unnecessary to retain the sedition offences in the Criminal Code. The ALRC concluded that the offences should be retained and that governments have a right, and in many cases a duty, to legislate to protect the institutions of democracy, and the personal integrity attack by force or violence...The citizens, from recommendations were largely concerned with streamlining and altering the description of the sedition offences rather than significantly changing their substance. The Government accepted most of the ALRC's recommendations, and the proposed amendments to the sedition offences reflect many of the ALRC's recommendations.²⁴

Freedom of expression

- 3.29 Another issue concerning submitters and witnesses was the impact of the urging violence offence provisions on the right to freedom of speech.
- 3.30 Civil Liberties Australia (CLA), for example, submitted that proposed subsections 80.2(1) and 80.2(3) overlook that '[urging violence] is an offence of the mind.' In its view, it is unjust for the government to restrict an adversary's freedom of expression. CLA argued that freedom of speech is necessary in a modern western

²² Submission 9, p. 18. Also see Dr Patrick Emerson, Committee Hansard, 21 May 2010, pp 32-33.

²³ Ms Annette Willing, Attorney-General's Department, *Committee Hansard*, 21 May 2010, p. 50.

Answer to question on notice, received 3 June 2010, p. 1.

liberal democracy, and the proposed provisions extend beyond what is necessary and proportionate in the interests of national security and public safety:

Our primary concern is that the [NS] Bill regulates an action constituting the expression of words, not the commission of violence. The proposed offences contained in Subdivision C are speech acts, and imply that the expression of an opinion equates to an intention to act on that opinion.

Absent specific situational context in which the expression is made that clearly connects the expression with the acts that they advocate, or an actual act of violence, the implication is that the words become performative and urging violence is performing an act of violence.²⁵

3.31 With respect to the right of free speech, the Law Council expressed similar concerns:

...the [urging violence] offences, by their very nature, have the potential to unduly burden freedom of expression and may have the effect of chilling legitimate political debate.²⁶

3.32 In relation to proposed sections 80.2A and 80.2B (see below for further discussion), the AHRC raised identical arguments by stating that those provisions would 'restrict freedom of expression' as protected by Article 19 of the International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights (ICCPR). Paragraph 3 of Article 19 restricts the right as necessary for the protection of national security or public order, or for public health or morals. Therefore, to maintain consistency with these international covenants:

The urging violence provisions will therefore only constitute a permissible restriction on freedom of expression to the extent that they can be said to be necessary for the purposes of protecting the rights or reputation of others or protecting public order or national security.²⁸

3.33 The AHRC also noted that, under proposed sections 80.2A and 80.2B, political opinion is a protected attribute²⁹ and cautioned:

In Australia the freedom of political communication is constitutionally protected but only in very limited circumstances. Offences that limit freedom of expression must be carefully drafted to ensure that legitimate speech, particularly political dissent, is not captured.³⁰

²⁵ Submission 14, p. 1.

²⁶ *Submission* 22, p. 6.

For the full text of Article 19, see: http://www2.ohchr.org/english/law/ccpr.htm (accessed 1 June 2010).

Australian Human Rights Commission, *Submission 18*, p. 35.

²⁹ Proposed paragraphs 80.2A(1)(c), 80.2A (2)(c), 80.2B(1)(d) and 80.2B(2)(d) of the NS Bill.

³⁰ Submission 18, pp 36-37. Also see Liberty Victoria, Submission 8, p. 2.

Urging violence against groups or members of groups

3.34 Proposed sections 80.2A and 80.2B of the Criminal Code create offences for the urging of violence against groups and the urging of violence against members of groups, respectively. There are two offences within each of these categories, the difference between the two being an additional element in each proposed subsection (1):

The use of the force or violence would threaten the peace, order and good government of the Commonwealth. ³¹

3.35 In relation to the proposed sections, submissions and evidence focussed on two particular issues: specific elements of the offences; and placement of the subsection 80.2A(2) and 80.2B(2) offences within the Criminal Code rather than alongside federal anti-vilification laws.

Specific elements of the offences

- 3.36 Throughout the inquiry, three specific elements of the offences attracted most comment: first, the element of threat to the peace, order and good government of the Commonwealth; second, the element of intent; and third, distinction of a group or individual by reference to race, religion, nationality, national or ethnic origin, or political opinion.
- 3.37 The Castan Centre, for example, submitted that the phrase 'threaten the peace, order and good government of the Commonwealth' has been judicially held to be meaningless.³²
- 3.38 Liberty Victoria objected to the same phrase on the ground of its extraterritorial operation:
 - [It] might well criminalize a person in Australia urging that arms be taken up in relation to some foreign cause (for example, a civil war in a foreign country). If a person were charged with such an offence, it would then be for the courts to determine whether the violence proposed would 'threaten the peace order and good government of the Commonwealth' something which would bring into question Australia's foreign policy in relation to particular disputes. This is properly a matter to be determined by the Executive, as accountable to Parliament, not the Judiciary.³³
- 3.39 Associate Professor Dr Katharine Gelber submitted that the connection to the threat to the Commonwealth is conjunctive and not determinative, meaning that subsections 80.2A(1) and 80.2B(1) could capture purely coincidental threats:

33 *Submission* 8, p. 1.

-

Proposed paragraphs 80.2A(1)(d) and 80.2B(1)(e) of the NS Bill.

³² Submission 9, p. 9.

The nature of the offence is that a person must intend to urge a person or group to use force against a targeted group or person, and must intend that force or violence will occur. There is a conjunctive connection to a threat to the Commonwealth, with the use of the word 'and'. This means that the threat to the Commonwealth could be purely coincidental; the construction of the provision emphasises that it be established that the activity would threaten the Commonwealth, not that it was intended to do so.³⁴

- 3.40 By way of solution, Dr Gelber recommended that the word 'would' should be replaced with the phrase 'is intended to' before the word 'threaten' in proposed paragraphs 80.2A(1)(d) and 80.2B(1)(e).³⁵
- 3.41 The Executive Council of Australian Jewry (ECAJ) focussed its submission on the element of intention within proposed sections 80.2A and 80.2B, that is:
 - a person intentionally urged another person, or a group, to use force or violence against a targeted group or a targeted person; and
 - that person did so intending that force or violence will occur. ³⁶
- 3.42 The ECAJ submitted that it would be virtually impossible for a prosecutor to prove to a criminal standard the second limb of this element and it would be judicially construed as 'imposing a far more stringent evidentiary onus on the prosecutor than appears to have been contemplated'. In addition, the use of the terms 'intentionally' and 'intending' is likely to exclude from criminal liability a person's reckless indifference to consequences:

...the intentional urging of force or violence against a targeted group, or a supposed member of the group, with reckless indifference as to whether force or violence will occur, should also be proscribed.³⁸

3.43 The ECAJ recommended that proposed paragraphs 80.2A(1)(b) and 80.2A(2)(b) be amended to read 'the first person does so intending that force or violence will occur or is recklessly indifferent as to whether force or violence will occur'. ³⁹

38 Submission 2, p. 6.

³⁴ Submission 5, p. 2. Also see Sydney Centre for International Law, Submission 6, p. 4; and Human Rights Law Resource Centre and Amnesty International, Submission 15, pp 19-20.

³⁵ Submission 5, p. 2. Also see Sydney Centre for International Law, Submission 6, p. 4; and Human Rights Law Resource Centre and Amnesty International, Submission 15, pp 19-20.

³⁶ Proposed paragraphs 80.2A(1)(a)-(b), 80.2A(2)(a)-(b), 80.2B(1)(a)-(b) and 80.2B(2)(a)-(b) of the NS Bill.

³⁷ *Submission* 2, p. 6.

³⁹ *Submission* 2, p. 6.

- 3.44 In relation to the grounds of distinction, the AHRC told the committee that the proposed offences might not offer sufficient protection to persons targeted for reasons of race, religion and political opinion.⁴⁰
- 3.45 Dr Gelber appeared to concur with this viewpoint and submitted that the ground of religion is not consistent with the International Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Racial Discrimination, which relies on the term 'race or group of persons of one colour or ethnic origin'. That phrase forms the basis for current federal anti-vilification laws as the inclusion of religion as an explicitly protected ground in anti-vilification laws is highly controversial. 42
- 3.46 Dr Gelber also submitted that the ground of political opinion confuses the difference between a criminal vilification offence and an offence against the Commonwealth. In her view, while there might be some logic in retaining the ground of political opinion for proposed subsections 80.2A(1) and 80.2B(1), Dr Gelber argued that such retention for proposed subsections 80.2A(2) and 80.2B(2) would be:

...inconsistent with the phenomenology of vilification, inconsistent with the international instruments from which our obligation to implement criminal vilification laws derives...and inconsistent with all other State, Territory and federal anti-vilification laws in Australia.⁴³

- 3.47 Accordingly, Dr Gelber recommended removing the grounds of religion and political opinion from the proposed offences in subsections 80.2A(2) and 80.2B(2).⁴⁴
- 3.48 The Sydney Centre, from a slightly different viewpoint, submitted that inclusion of political opinion in the proposed grounds goes beyond Australia's specific human rights obligations under Articles 4(a) and 20 of ICCPR. The Sydney Centre stated that political opinion is more familiar as a ground of distinction upon which federal, state and territory discrimination laws operate, leading it to question why other grounds of discrimination are also not included within the ambit of the proposed provision. 45

Placement of subsections 80.2A(2) and 80.2B(2)

3.49 The second issue concerning submitters and witnesses in relation to proposed sections 80.2A and 80.2B was the placement of subsections (2) in Subdivision C

The Hon. Catherine Branson QC, Australian Human Rights Commission, *Committee Hansard*, 21 May 2010, p. 10.

International Convention on All Forms of Racial Discrimination, Article 4. See: http://www2.ohchr.org/english/law/cerd.htm (accessed 2 June 2010).

⁴² Dr Katharine Gelber, Submission 5, pp 3-4.

⁴³ *Submission* 5, p. 4.

⁴⁴ *Submission* 5, p. 4.

⁴⁵ *Submission* 6, p. 5.

(Urging violence) of the Criminal Code rather than within non-terrorism related legislation.

- 3.50 The NACLC, for example, submitted that the proposed sections:
 - ...[seek] to provide a legislative response to the problem of racism in the community, and in particular racially motivated violence, in a Bill about counter-terrorism. 46
- 3.51 The Law Council similarly argued that the proposed offences are of a different character to treason and urging violence offences, do not relate to political dissent or acts of violence directed toward the government and its institutions, and are not focussed on inter-group violence. Subject to a separate and more detailed review, the Law Council submitted:
 - ...if these offences are to be included in the Criminal Code they should be in a separate Division dealing with anti-vilification laws.⁴⁷
- 3.52 Dr Gelber explained that elements of the constructions in proposed sections 80.2A and 80.2B demonstrate confusion between the two distinct concepts of urging violence and vilification. Further, the placement of proposed subsections 80.2A(2) and 80.2B(2) in Chapter 5 of the Criminal Code (Security of the Commonwealth) will compromise their effectiveness and utility:

It is likely that the police might be confused about the heading under which these charges sit, and may shy away from considering charging people who act in a manner that might fall under these provisions where those actions do not also threaten the Commonwealth. It is also likely that should such activities occur the police would consider applying other criminal provisions against violence more generally. This will significantly dilute the impact of the introduction of a criminal vilification offence both symbolically and practically.

Additionally, retaining both offences in the Chapter devoted to security of the Commonwealth could significantly reduce the currently existing, long standing support for anti-vilification laws that exists in the broader community. If anti-vilification laws become equated with a criminal offence against the Commonwealth, they become more vulnerable to charges that they constitute impermissible restrictions on freedom of speech. 48

3.53 Dr Gelber recommended that the offences in subsections 80.2A(2) and 80.2B(2) be removed from Chapter 5 of the Criminal Code and instead placed in

_

⁴⁶ *Submission 13*, p. 7.

⁴⁷ Submission 22, p. 8. Also see Dr Patrick Emerton, Committee Hansard, 21 May 2010, p. 29.

⁴⁸ Submission 5, pp 2-3. Also see Sydney Centre for International Law, Submission 6, pp 4-5; Gilbert & Tobin Centre of Public Law, Submission 10, p. 13; Human Rights Law Resource Centre and Amnesty International, Submission 15, p.21; and Australian Human Rights Commission, Submission 18, p. 37.

Chapter 9 (Dangers to the community) of the Criminal Code, or elsewhere (such as Part IIA (Prohibition of offensive behaviour based on racial hatred) of the *Racial Discrimination Act 1975*).

Department response

3.54 The committee asked the Department why proposed sections 80.2A and 80.2B are located in Chapter 5 of the Criminal Code. Its answer was as follows:

While the offences in sections 80.2A and 80.2B, in effect, condemn ethno-racially or religiously motivated discrimination, their primary purpose is to criminalise the urging of force or violence as opposed to conduct which offends, humiliates, insults or ridicules a person on specified grounds. They are serious offences targeting conduct that has the potential to impact on the security of the Commonwealth. They are therefore appropriately located in Chapter 5 of the Criminal Code. 49

Subdivision C defences

- 3.55 Proposed subsection 80.3(3) of the Criminal Code provides additional non-exclusive matters to which a court may have regard when considering a defence under section 80.3 (Defence for acts done in good faith) in relation to proposed subsections 80.2(1), 80.2(3), 80.2A and 80.2B. An essential element of this defence is an intention to act in good faith.
- 3.56 Submitters and witnesses briefly commented on the proposed provision, and in general, their comments varied according to their view of the relevant offence provision or the ALRC recommendations to expand the 'good faith defence' for urging violence offences.⁵⁰
- 3.57 The ALRC considered that the NS Bill effectively implements its recommendations through the proposed amendments to section 80.3 of the Criminal Code, ⁵¹ a view with which the Department agreed. ⁵²
- 3.58 The Castan Centre also supported the extension of the good faith defence as proposed in subsection 80.3(3) but recommended a further extension by:
 - ...removing the requirement in paragraph 80.3(b) of the Criminal Code that the pointing out of good faith errors take place with a view to reform. In a

Answer to question on notice, received 3 June 2010, pp 19-20.

51 Submission 17, p. 5

52

Answer to question on notice, received 3 June 2010, p. 3 and p. 18. Also see Ms Annette Willing, Attorney-General's Department, *Committee Hansard*, 21 May 2010, p. 50.

Australian Law Reform Commission, *Fighting Words: A Review of Sedition Laws in Australia*, ALRC Report 104 (2006), Recommendations 12-1 and 12-2.

⁵¹ *Submission 17*, p. 3.

democracy, the pointing out of errors in good faith should be permissible whether or not done for a reforming, nihilistic or other reason. ⁵³

3.59 Gilbert & Tobin did not agree that the NS Bill adopts the ALRC's recommendations and suggested implementing the ALRC's proposals verbatim as, in its view, proposed subsection 80.3(3) will be problematic:

It is logically difficult to conceive of a situation where a trier of fact is convinced that the elements of an urging force or violence offence in [for example] section 80.2 are satisfied, but nevertheless the defendant has carried out this behaviour in 'good faith'...This is because urging force or violence, if it is to have the meaning intended by the Bill, must involve an element of malice or bad faith.⁵⁴

3.60 The ECAJ made similar submissions:

An intention that 'force or violence will occur' in [the context of incitement to racial violence] is therefore incompatible with the act having been done in 'good faith'. Reckless indifference as to whether force or violence will occur in that context is also incompatible with the act having been done in 'good faith'. 55

- 3.61 In addition, and consistent with its views on the element of intent in proposed sections 80.2A and 80.2B, the ECAJ argued that the 'good faith defence' serves no purpose for those particular provisions as 'in the circumstances in which [the defence] could be established, the elements of the offence would not have been made out in the first place'. The ECAJ suggested that if the legislative intent is to protect freedom of expression in the form of acts done in good faith, then the elements of the offences should appropriately address that objective, ⁵⁶ a viewpoint with which the NACLC and AHRC agreed. ⁵⁷
- 3.62 The Human Rights Law Resource Centre and Amnesty International also submitted that, even if the justification for proposed subsection 80.3(3) is that it allows for consideration of context:

...amended section 80.3 places the onus on the accused to establish the context, rather than the state to make its case. ⁵⁸

National Association of Community Legal Centres, *Submission 13*, p. 7; and Australian Human Rights Commission, *Submission 18*, p. 41.

_

⁵³ Submission 9, p. 3. Also see Nicholas Petrie, Samuel Peirce, Samual Flynn, Claire Bongiorno, Patrick Magee, Louise Brown and Grace Jennings-Edquist, Submission 20, p. 4.

⁵⁴ Submission 10, p. 15. Also see Human Rights Law Resource Centre and Amnesty International, Submission 15, p. 23.

⁵⁵ Submission 2, p. 7. Also see Australian Human Rights Commission, Submission 18, p. 38; and Law Council of Australia, Submission 22, p. 8.

⁵⁶ Submission 2, p. 9.

⁵⁸ Submission 15, p. 24.

Terrorist organisations

3.63 Part 1 of Schedule 2 primarily amends Part 5.3 (Terrorism) of the Criminal Code by focusing on Division 102 (Definitions).

Definition of 'advocates'

- 3.64 Proposed paragraph 102.1(1A)(c) of the Criminal Code amends the definition of the term 'advocates' for terrorist organisations to provide that an organisation advocates the doing of a terrorist act if it directly praises the doing of a terrorist act in circumstances where there is a *substantial* risk that such praise might have the effect of leading a person (regardless of his or her age or any mental impairment that the person might suffer) to engage in a terrorist act.
- 3.65 Some submitters and witnesses directed the committee's attention to existing subsection 101.1(1A), as opposed to its proposed amendment. In general, there was support for the proposed amendment but opposition to the existing subsection.
- 3.66 Gilbert & Tobin, for example, advised that a number of inquiries examining the operation of the proscription provisions have criticised existing advocacy provisions as being too broad, expansive, ambiguous and imprecise, as well as posing a threat to freedom of expression:

Conceivably, the current definition of 'advocacy' may result in the proscription of an organisation (which may be a company, club or church group) even where:

The person who praised the terrorist act is not the leader of the group;

The statement is not on official material distributed by the organisation;

The statement is not accepted (and perhaps even rejected) by other members as representing the views of the group;

The organisation has no other involvement in terrorism; or

The person praising terrorism did not intend for a terrorist act to be committed.⁵⁹

3.67 While the proposed paragraph raises the criminal threshold, Gilbert & Tobin recommended deleting existing paragraph 102.1(1A)(c) of the Criminal Code:

Paragraph (c) is an extraordinary extension of the power of proscription and of criminal liability, since it collectively punishes members of groups for the speech of their associates beyond their control. ⁶⁰

3.68 At the public hearing in Melbourne, a representative from the Law Council also voiced similar concerns:

⁵⁹ Submission 10, pp 17-18. Also see Human Rights Law Resource Centre and Amnesty International, Submission 15, p. 25.

⁶⁰ Submission 10, p. 19.

The main problem with those provisions is working out who is criminally responsible. If a person associated with an organisation makes declarations that are inflammatory and designed to rip up improper and now illegal acts, then it is one thing to criminalise that person's statements. It is another thing altogether to criminalise membership of the organisation that person belongs to. There will be difficulties working out whether the statement is the statement of the organisation and it will be difficult to work out whether somebody is a member of the organisation. Membership is a very fluid concept and a very broad concept under these provisions. We are concerned that people might be in trouble for serious criminal offences even though they are not the maker of the statement.⁶¹

3.69 The AHRC noted such concerns and suggested that unintentional capture could be resolved by removing the word 'indirectly' from existing subsection 101.1(1A).⁶² In its view, the 'praising' of a terrorist act is too tenuous a link with the actual commission of a terrorist act and the subsection could disproportionately interfere with the right to freedom of expression.⁶³

3.70 However, the Department cautioned:

This would mean that an organisation would not be able to be listed if it indirectly counsels or urges the doing of a terrorist act or the organisation indirectly provides instruction on the doing of a terrorist act. This would create a gap in the counter-terrorism framework, which could enable organisations to engage in conduct that advocates the doing of a terrorist act. For example, an organisation could indirectly provide instruction on the doing of a terrorist act by simply referring its members to material provided by another person or organisation that provides instruction on the doing of a terrorist act. This gap in the framework would substantially weaken the listing provisions and enable an organisation to avoid listing by arranging its activities to ensure it only indirectly counsels or urges or provides instructions on doing a terrorist act. ⁶⁴

Listing of a terrorist organisation

- 3.71 Proposed subsection 102.1(3) of the Criminal Code amends the period of a regulation listing a terrorist organisation from two to three years.
- 3.72 The committee received only brief submissions regarding this proposed amendment. While Gilbert & Tobin emphasised the importance of meaningful review, ⁶⁵ other submitters opposed proposed subsection 102.1(3) on the basis of either

Answer to question on notice, received 3 June 2010, p. 21.

⁶¹ Mr Phillip Boulten SC, Law Council of Australia, Committee Hansard, 21 May 2010, p. 5.

The Hon. Catherine Branson QC and Ms Bronwyn Byrnes, Australian Human Rights Commission, *Committee Hansard*, 21 May 2010, p. 12.

⁶³ Submission 18, p. 45.

⁶⁵ Submission 10, p. 20.

a lack of such review or the existing provision's general inconsistency with the ordinary rule of law in Australia.

- 3.73 Civil Liberties Australia illustrated the first viewpoint by arguing that a three year period does not provide an adequate level of oversight: a two year period would better enable the Attorney-General to more frequently consider all relevant material and reflect on changes in the international sphere.⁶⁶
- 3.74 In opposing the entire listing regime, the Castan Centre presented the second viewpoint:

To list an organisation is to trigger a number of departures from the ordinary rule of law in Australia. Offences are enlivened of involvement with an organisation, which do not require the proof of any terrorist intent or conduct on the part of an accused or the organisation, and which have maximum sentences comparable to those for manslaughter, rape and serious war crimes...Listing an organisation is therefore a serious matter, having serious consequences for the application of Australian law. For this reason, an organisation ought not to be listed simply to make a political point. ⁶⁷

3.75 The NACLC similarly considered that the current listing regime should be repealed in its entirety:

In our view [it is] fundamentally inconsistent with the aspirations of a democratic society and [the provisions] compromise fundamental human rights and principles of the criminal law by the automatic criminalisation of political affiliations, associations and convictions by executive discretion. ⁶⁸

Pre-charge detention

- 3.76 Schedule 3 of the NS Bill amends Part 1C (Investigation of Commonwealth offences) of the Crimes Act. These provisions currently provide the Australian Federal Police (AFP) with the power to arrest and detain a person without warrant while the AFP investigates whether the person committed a non-terrorism or terrorism offence.
- 3.77 The present regime operates by providing that a person can be arrested for an offence until the 'investigation period' expires (four hours). There are two separate mechanisms by which the investigation period can be extended:
 - the extension of investigation mechanism (up to 20 hours); and
 - the disregarded or dead time mechanism (which can be certain time relating to the calculation of the investigation period or further time authorised by a judicial officer also in relation to the investigation period).

⁶⁶ Submission 14, p. 2. Also see Sydney Centre for International Law, Submission 6, p. 14.

⁶⁷ *Submission* 9, pp 10-11.

⁶⁸ *Submission 13*, p. 8.

- 3.78 There are therefore three separate time components particularly relevant to Part 1C of the Crimes Act, and the NS Bill proposes to create similar but not identical provisions and then differentiate between non-terrorism and terrorism offences in Subdivisions A and B of Division 2 of Part IC, respectively. ⁶⁹
- 3.79 In general, submitters and witnesses supported amendments to the current regime either as contemplated by the NS Bill or otherwise. These comments were principally directed toward the proposed provisions for the investigation of terrorism offences against the Commonwealth. These arguments are examined below.

Period of investigation

- 3.80 Proposed subsection 23DB(5) states that, in relation to a terrorism offence, the investigation period begins when a person is arrested and does not extend beyond two hours, if the person is or appears to be under 18, an Aboriginal person or a Torres Strait Islander, or four hours in any other case, subject to the extension of investigation mechanism under proposed section 23DF (up to 20 hours).
- 3.81 Proposed paragraphs 23DB(9)(a)-(l) set out the first limb of the disregarded time mechanisms: certain time relating to the calculation of the investigation period (reasonable time only but otherwise undefined).
- 3.82 Proposed paragraph 23DB(9)(m) sets out the second limb of the disregarded time mechanisms: further time authorised by a judicial officer under proposed section 23DD also in relation to the investigation period (reasonable time only but otherwise limited to seven days under proposed paragraph 23DB(11)).

Procedural issues

3.83 There was some comment on the process for making an application to extend the investigation mechanism for terrorism offences. For example, the NSW Premier and Cabinet on behalf of the NSW Police Force submitted:

...[A] continued ability to make an application by telephone would promote some operational flexibility if the circumstances permit, and not unnecessarily limit the policing response.⁷⁰

3.84 Rather than the mode by which an application can be made, the Australian Federal Police Association (AFPA) commented on the judicial officer to whom an application can be made: the NS Bill proposes to restrict this function to magistrates only, excluding justices of the peace and bail justices. In its view:

The National Association of Community Legal Centres submitted that there should not be two separate categories of offences with different powers and safeguards: see *Submission 13*, p. 9. Also see Liberty Victoria, *Submission 8*, p. 2.

⁷⁰ Submission 19, pp 1-2.

This [requirement] would create unnecessary administrative delays and inefficiencies and could prolong the investigative process due to the 'dead time' required to finalise an extension application.⁷¹

3.85 In relation to the application to extend the investigation mechanism and disregarded time mechanism, the NACLC expressed concern with proposed provisions permitting information to be withheld from a magistrate in an application for a specified period and/or be removed from the copy of an instrument made by a magistrate and given to a person or their legal representative:

If these exclusions are to be retained, we are particularly concerned that in the interests of justice and to enable a proper assessment of the application to be made, that a court be provided with all relevant information.⁷²

3.86 The Law Council made similar submissions but focussed on the appropriateness of the investigating official making all the necessary determinations:

...once a decision is taken to include certain information in the application and to seek to rely on it to the detriment of the arrested person, it should not remain the exclusive prerogative of the investigating official to determine that the information cannot be disclosed because it is likely to be protected by public interest immunity or if disclosed, is likely to prejudice national security, to put at risk ongoing operations or put at risk the safety of the community.

[T]he relevant provisions should be redrafted to give the judicial officer the discretion to determine what information should be disclosed, to whom and in what form. ⁷³

3.87 The Sydney Centre similarly submitted that the 'open-ended' exclusionary provisions are not consistent with Australia's obligation to safeguard the rights of accused persons by allowing them a capacity to defend themselves against criminal allegations occasioning a suspension of their rights (Articles 9(2) and 14(3)(b) of the ICCPR):

We are concerned that if the accused and his or her defence counsel are denied access to exculpatory or inculpatory evidence, the opportunities afforded the accused or his or her legal representatives to make representations to a magistrate about the application in question...are rendered meaningless.

. . .

We recognise that it is arguable that there might be extreme circumstances in which it may be determined necessary to hamstring an arrestee's defence in this way for reasons of public safety. We believe, however, that such a

72 Submission 13, p. 9. Also see Australian Human Rights Commission, Submission 18, p. 21.

⁷¹ Submission 16, p. 4.

⁷³ Submission 22, p. 17. Also see Mr Phillip Boulten SC, Law Council of Australia, Committee Hansard, 21 May 2010, p. 3.

determination is one that a magistrate should be called upon to make, once in possession of all the relevant information, rather than being a decision left to investigating officers likely to have made significant personal investments in the investigation.⁷⁴

3.88 In response, the Department told the committee:

It is essential for police to be able to protect the operational integrity of an investigation and run it without risk that sensitive information could be disclosed. Police are in the best position to determine the sensitivity of the information in these applications as they have all the material in relation to the information's source and context...If a magistrate considers the information the police have redacted from the application should be disclosed to the arrested person, the magistrate may form the view that the person has not been given the opportunity to make adequate representations about the application and therefore reject the application. Accordingly, the magistrate retains the ultimate discretion as to how to deal with the redacted information.⁷⁵

Disregarded time mechanism

- 3.89 In general, however, the majority of submissions and evidence commented on the proposed time limits or lack thereof in the disregarded time mechanism. Almost all submissions supported the introduction of a cap for the second limb of the disregarded time mechanism, but the necessity for that mechanism and any time limits introduced by the NS Bill was the subject of considerable debate, the tone of which was set by the AHRC.
- 3.90 In its submission, the AHRC argued that the NS Bill allows for a maximum length of eight days detention plus any further time to be disregarded under the first limb of the disregarded time mechanism. In its view, this is unjustified and disproportionate.⁷⁶
- 3.91 To strike a better balance between the AFP's investigation needs in terrorism cases and an individual's right to liberty, the AHRC recommended that:
 - the mechanism to disregard further time under proposed paragraph 23DB(9)(m) be removed from the NS Bill;
 - procedural aspects of the first limb of the disregarded time mechanism under proposed paragraphs 23(DB)(9)(f)-(i) and (k) be deleted; and
 - proposed subsection 23DF(7) be amended so that the maximum time an investigation can be extended by is four days subject to any further time

⁷⁴ *Submission* 6, pp 19-21.

Answer to questions on notice, received 3 June 2010, p. 5.

Submission 18, p. 15. Also see Human Rights Law Resource Centre and Amnesty International, *Submission 15*, p. 26; and Law Council of Australia, *Submission 22*, p. 15.

as required by the court to dispose of an application under proposed sections 23DE, 23WU or 23XB. 77

3.92 That is, there should be a maximum investigation period with only one disregarded time mechanism, a rationalisation supported by the Law Council:

At the moment there are actually three compartments of time. There is what is called the investigation period, which is 24 hours. You have the dead time, which is downtime which relates to the investigators' need to get extra time to investigate. Then there are downtimes that relate to matters that are peculiar to the suspect, like the need for a rest, the need to get an interpreter or the need to get a lawyer.⁷⁸

3.93 The Law Council described these compartments of time as 'clumsy'. In response to questions from the committee, a representative agreed that the Crimes Act could eliminate 'dead time' altogether, leaving a maximum investigation period – in its view no more than 48 hours – with 'down time' for matters particular to the accused (such as the need to rest, contact a legal representative, et cetera):

It is going to be much easier for the police to understand, it will be easier for the court to understand and it gives a greater degree of certainty as to why the suspect is in custody.⁷⁹

- 3.94 Some submitters did not consider the recommendations of the AHRC but commented on the seven day cap in proposed subsection 23DB(11). These viewpoints supported a much lesser cap of between 24 and 48 hours only, 80 with some submissions stating that there has been no justification for the proposed seven day cap.
- 3.95 Gilbert & Tobin, for example, referred to the findings of the *Inquiry into the Case of Dr Mohamed Haneef* which recommended a review of this area of law prior to implementation of a seven day cap.⁸¹ In the absence of such a review, Gilbert & Tobin submitted:

The maximum period of pre-charge detention for terrorism offences should be based upon clear evidence both as to the operational needs of investigating authorities and the impact of an extended period of time on the liberties of the detainee. Any increase in pre-charge detention over the normal maximum period for non-terrorism offences [12 hours] should be

⁷⁷ Submission 18, p. 19; and the Hon. Catherine Branson QC, Australian Human Rights Commission, Committee Hansard, 21 May 2010, p. 16. Also see Dr Katharine Gelber, Committee Hansard, 21 May 2010, p. 18.

⁷⁸ Mr Phillip Boulten SC, Law Council of Australia, *Committee Hansard*, 21 May 2010, pp 2-3.

Mr Phillip Boulten SC, Law Council of Australia, *Committee Hansard*, 21 May 2010, p. 8. Also see Professor George Williams, *Committee Hansard*, 21 May 2010, p. 23.

For example, Civil Liberties Australia, *Submission 14*, p. 2; and National Association of Community Legal Centres, *Submission 13*, p. 9.

The Hon. John Clarke QC, Report of the Clarke Inquiry into the Case of Dr Mohamed Haneef (November 2008), Recommendation 3.

fully justified. We do not reach a final view as to the maximum period of pre-charge detention – in light of such evidence not yet having been produced – but put forward the proposal that the cap should be in the order of 48 hours. 82

- 3.96 The Australian Human Rights Law Resource Centre and Amnesty International submitted that the length of pre-charge detention must be proportionate to avoid violation of Article 9(1) of the ICCPR, which prohibits arbitrary detention. It noted that the precise length of time is dependent on a number of factors but should not exceed a 'few days' and in every case should be only the minimal time reasonably necessary. In its view, the maximum time allocated under the investigation period (24 hours) appropriately reflects the complexities of investigating terrorism offences; therefore, there is no need for proposed paragraph 23DB(9)(m) and proposed paragraphs 23DB(9)(a)-(l) should not exceed 48 hours. ⁸³
- 3.97 Similarly, the Castan Centre argued that if the regime of 'dead time' is to be retained it should be capped at 24 hours, giving rise to a total maximum period of pre-charge detention of 48 hours, to balance the competing interests of investigating authorities and the rights of persons accused of terrorism offences:
 - ...it is not in the interests of the integrity and efficiency of investigating authorities that they be vested with these sorts of expansionary discretions. It is in the interests of the administration of justice, as well as the civil liberties of the accused, that the time between arrest and the laying of charges be as brief as possible. Arrest ought to be the culmination of an investigation, not the trigger for a fishing expedition.⁸⁴
- 3.98 From a slightly different point of view, the Sydney Centre submitted that the absence of a cap under proposed subsection 23DB(9), or in any of its proposed paragraphs, leaves open a real possibility that the subsection might be abused in some way in the pressured environment of a terrorism-related investigation. It therefore recommended either a maximum period of pre-charge detention under proposed subsection 23DB or, alternatively, a maximum period of 'dead time' that may be subject to disregard under proposed subsection 23DB(9).

⁸² Submission 10, p. 30. Also see Liberty Victoria, Submission 8, pp 2-3; Nicholas Petrie, Samuel Peirce, Samual Flynn, Claire Bongiorno, Patrick Magee, Louise Brown and Grace Jennings-Edquist, Submission 20, p. 3; and Mr Edward Santow, Committee Hansard, 21 May 2010, p. 23.

⁸³ Submission 15, pp 31-33.

⁸⁴ *Submission 9*, p. 21. Also see National Association of Community Legal Centres, Submission 13, p. 9.

⁸⁵ *Submission* 6, p. 18.

Viewpoint of law enforcement bodies

- 3.99 At the public hearing, Professor George Williams noted that 'the bodies that were in the best position to explain what they need and what operational requirements demand in terms of a detention period were simply not involved in [the consultation] process'. 86
- 3.100 The committee then heard from relevant witnesses who described their operational procedures and requirements. Representatives from the AFPA, for example, stated that the current 'down time' provisions are quite prescriptive and could be improved to facilitate the investigation process:

If the proposal were to have a particular, set time, it would certainly be more operationally effective and efficient for the police officers to manage that particular aspect of the pre-charge detention, purely because you do have to focus some attention on the down time requirements and whether you are exceeding the four hours. ⁸⁷

- 3.101 In addition, the AFPA representatives agreed that a maximum investigation period without 'dead time' would seem sensible, subject to consideration of the finer details. In their view, a 48 hour cap on the investigation period would be too short a time due to the 'international liaison that needs to occur' for terrorism offences.⁸⁸
- 3.102 The Department concurred and provided a summary of the types of operational considerations relevant to 'international liaison':

...counter-terrorism investigations are often heavily reliant on information from overseas sources and the receipt of this information can significantly influence the direction and outcomes of the investigation. Difficulties are commonly encountered in securing important and accurate information expediently from overseas. Such difficulties include delays associated with time zone differences. It also acknowledges that large volumes of complex information may need to be collated, processed and analysed before an interview is able to be effectively conducted with a suspect and charging decisions made. 89

3.103 In its evidence, the Australian Federal Police (AFP) did not commit to a view regarding a maximum investigation period:

_

⁸⁶ *Committee Hansard*, 21 May 2010, p. 25.

⁸⁷ Mr Ben Santamaria, Australian Federal Police Association, *Committee Hansard*, 21 May 2010, pp 33-34.

Mr Jonathan Hunt-Sharman, Australian Federal Police Association, *Committee Hansard*,
 May 2010, p. 36; and Mr Ben Santamaria, Australian Federal Police Association, *Committee Hansard*,
 May 2010, p. 37.

Answer to questions on notice, received 3 June 2010, p. 11. Also see Australian Federal Police, answer to questions on notice, received 4 June 2010, pp 2-3.

...setting a period [on the investigation period] would be difficult to quantify. If you capped it at seven days as a hard bar, for example, we could potentially get to a situation where we needed to go over that depending on the complexity of the incident or the investigation itself. I think it is worthy of further consideration. 90

3.104 The AFP did not agree with the AHRC's recommendations regarding proposed paragraph 23DB(9)(m) and proposed subsection 23DB(11) which '[balance] the rights of an arrested person with the needs of law enforcement.'91 However, officers agreed that simplification of the current regime would be welcome.

Department response

- 3.105 In response to concerns regarding pre-charge detention, the Department recognised that detaining persons is a serious matter and it is important to strike the right balance between enabling law enforcement agencies to conduct their investigations and recognising the rights of a suspect.
- 3.106 A representative of the Department noted that the current regime resulted from the *Review of Commonwealth Criminal Law* which found that a 'process with a specified investigation period coupled with disregard of time was the best way of ensuring the appropriate balance was struck'. 92
- 3.107 Accordingly, the Department disagreed with the suggestion that the Crimes Act should provide for a maximum investigation period with adequate inclusion of safeguards. It essentially argued that 'dead time' would not function effectively if it were generically included within the investigation period provisions, ⁹³ nor would a less than seven day cap suffice for terrorism-related law enforcement purposes:

A cap on 'specified disregarded time' [or 'dead time'] of 48 hours could hamper the ability of law enforcement agencies to investigate terrorism.

...[T]he AFP presented evidence that demonstrated an operational need for the specified disregarded time provisions to have a seven day cap. Terrorism presents a high risk to public safety and terrorism investigations are often undertaken with minimal lead-in time or prior knowledge. These investigations must be thorough and broad ranging and often involve multiple suspects, the execution of multiple search warrants, considerable forensic analysis of crime scenes and seized items and significant enquiries and liaison with overseas agencies. It is often necessary for significant elements of these activities to occur pre-charge to ensure the arrested person

⁹⁰ Commander Scott Lee, Australian Federal Police, Committee Hansard, 21 May 2010, p. 52.

Ommander Scott Lee, Australian Federal Police, *Committee Hansard*, 21 May 2010, p. 46. Also see Australian Crime Commission, answer to questions on notice, received 1 June 2010, p. 1.

⁹² Ms Annette Willing, Attorney-General's Department, *Committee Hansard*, 21 May 2010, p. 53.

⁹³ Ms Annette Willing, Attorney-General's Department, *Committee Hansard*, 21 May 2010, p. 52.

can be properly interviewed and charged, the public protected and terrorist acts prevented. For these reasons a 7 day cap is necessary, reasonable and appropriate.

There are also a range of [existing and proposed] safeguards in place in relation to specified disregarded time. ⁹⁴

3.108 As an aside, the Department told the committee that the AHRC's proposal does not recognise:

...the character and rationale for ['dead time']. ['Dead time'] is time that is to be disregarded from the investigation period, rather than part of the investigation period itself. Therefore, it is appropriate to retain separate application processes. Furthermore, the ['dead time'] provisions link the time that is sought to a particular purpose, providing a greater degree of accountability and transparency about how the time is being used. 95

Emergency entry to premises

- 3.109 Schedule 4 amends Division 3A of Part 1AA (Search, Information Gathering, Arrest and Related Powers) of the Crimes Act.
- 3.110 Proposed section 3UEA of the Crimes Act provides police officers with a new power to enter premises without a warrant in emergency circumstances relating to a terrorism offence where there is material that may pose a risk to the health or safety of the public:
 - proposed subsection 3UEA(2) limits the proposed power to searching the premises for a particular thing and seizing a particular thing; and
 - proposed subsection 3UEA(3) allows police officers to secure the premises for a period that is reasonably necessary to apply for a search warrant over the premises if, in the course of searching for a particular thing, a police officer finds another thing that s/he reasonably suspect is relevant to an indictable offence or a summary offence.
- 3.111 Some submitters questioned proposed section 3UEA on the ground that it does not appear to adequately safeguard individual rights. ⁹⁶ Most of this evidence took issue with the potential for abuse and argued that it is essential for the NS Bill to include an appropriate level of judicial oversight.
- 3.112 The Sydney Centre, for example, submitted:

Answer to questions on notice, received 3 June 2010, p. 4.

Answer to questions on notice, received 3 June 2010, p. 10.

⁹⁶ For example, Human Rights Law Resource Centre and Amnesty International, *Submission 15*, p. 34; National Association of Community Legal Centres, *Submission 13*, p. 10; and Australian Human Rights Commission, *Submission 18*, p. 25.

We are concerned, however, that as currently drafted these proposed amendments unduly impinge upon rights protected by Article 17 of the ICCPR, which provides that no person 'shall be subjected to arbitrary or unlawful interference with his [or her] privacy, family, or correspondence...' As the Government no doubt acknowledges, the powers of police to enter a person's premises and to search through a person's possessions clearly constitute an interference with that person's privacy. The entrance into a person's home of a number of police officers (most likely unknown to the person and unexpected by the person) amounts to a particularly serious infringement upon that person's privacy.... The use of police warrants has traditionally been an essential device to curtail arbitrariness in the pursuit of law enforcement and public safety goals. The requirement for a warrant ensures that the execution of warrants by one arm of government is supervised by another, as well as ensuring that adequate reasons are furnished that support substantial interferences with privacy. ⁹⁷

3.113 The Sydney Centre expressed concern that proposed section 3UEA could be taken to authorise fishing expeditions by well-meaning police officers looking for evidence where an insufficient basis exists for warrant-based investigation. It submitted that the twin goals of avoiding delay in emergency settings and ensuring that oversight and accountability are maintained are reconcilable:

We recommend that s.3UEA be amended to establish a retrospective warrant-like procedure that applies after the power is exercised, whereby a judicial officer would affirm that the power had been properly exercised or provide guidance as to how any impropriety or over-reach might be addressed and thereafter avoided. This would ensure that appropriate checks and balances are maintained in relation to warrantless entry or search procedures. Such an ex post facto mechanism for judicial supervision would provide the police with a more certain footing upon which to proceed with the investigation in question (reducing the likelihood of evidence being excluded in the final instance). It would also reassure the Australian public that their fundamental rights and democratic freedoms are secure, notwithstanding the seemingly incessant expansion of police powers advanced under the rubric of counter-terrorism.

3.114 In evidence, Ms Nicola McGarrity told the committee:

...[W]e were really unsure as to what compelling justification the government could possibly put forward to justify moving away from the traditional procedure of requiring judicial supervision. There do not appear to be, to the best of our knowledge, any practical examples of a situation in

⁹⁷ *Submission* 6, p. 22.

⁹⁸ *Submission* 6, p. 25.

which the requirement to seek a search warrant has undermined the ability of the AFP to conduct investigations into terrorism matters. ⁹⁹

3.115 Gilbert & Tobin's submission stated that the AFP should only be given the power to conduct warrantless searches as a last resort, particularly in view of the existing ability to obtain a search warrant by a variety of means at short notice (such as by phone and fax). Furthermore:

...[I]n order to limit the potential for misuse of power by the police during the course of a search, it is important that searches be overseen by a magistrate or judge. In each case, it is for a magistrate or judge to weigh any evidence of a criminal offence and determine whether that evidence is sufficiently strong to justify a violation of the rights to home and privacy by the police. ¹⁰⁰

3.116 The Law Council also argued that the government has not discharged its responsibility to justify the introduction of an 'extraordinary' power but, if it could, appropriate safeguards would still need to be in place. For example, an ex post facto search warrant, without which evidence obtained during a search may be ruled inadmissible in future court proceedings, should be required:

The power to enter and search premises, and seize property without the occupier's consent, is a breach of privacy. For that reason such a power should be carefully confined and subject to strictly enforced conditions...Allowing police to enter and search premises without a warrant and under their own authority increases the risk that such powers will be misused. Moreover, it increases the risk that an individual's privacy rights will be breached in circumstances not justified by the necessary pursuit of a legitimate law enforcement imperative. ¹⁰¹

3.117 Professor Williams added:

...we see the ex post facto search warrant process as being particularly important, because unless you have that there is no requirement that you bring the same rigour to these searches that you do to other searches that have the warrant requirement. Doing so after the event is certainly not ideal but it will mean that, in the mind of any officer who undertakes one of these emergency searches...at the end of the day, they do need to make the same

101 Submission 22, p. 19. Also see Mr Phillip Boulten SC, Law Council of Australia, Committee Hansard, 21 May 2010, p. 3; and the Law Society of NSW, Submission 23, pp 3-4.

⁹⁹ *Committee Hansard*, 21 May 2010, p. 23. Also see Human Rights Law Resource Centre and Amnesty International, *Submission 15*, p. 35; and Nicholas Petrie, Samuel Peirce, Samual Flynn, Claire Bongiorno, Patrick Magee, Louise Brown and Grace Jennings-Edquist, *Submission 20*, p. 3.

¹⁰⁰ Submission 10, p. 32.

level of justification as they would with any other search of private property or any type of warrant. 102

Viewpoint of law enforcement bodies

- 3.118 In evidence, law enforcement bodies did not object to the introduction of an ex post facto search warrant requirement in relation to proposed section 3UEA. However, the AFPA, the AFP and the Department all questioned whether such a requirement would serve any useful purpose.
- 3.119 At the public hearing in Melbourne, the AFP reiterated that proposed section 3UEA is not an evidence gathering power which can be used covertly and, in most circumstances, police officers would obtain a search warrant prior to searching any premises:

[The proposed section] simply allows us to enter a premises, search for or seize a particular thing in order to prevent its use in connection with a terrorism offence. That is in circumstances where there is an imminent threat to life, health or safety. If we are going to search the premises for evidence, we are required to secure the premises and obtain a warrant. ¹⁰³

- 3.120 Other submissions commented on the various restrictions or limitations of the proposed provision. Victoria Police, in particular, queried operational difficulties which are not addressed in the NS Bill such as:
 - the need to identify a particular person whose life, health or safety is threatened;
 - the need to extend the powers of entry and seizure to premises where an initiator device might be located;
 - the need to grant police officers the power to direct members of the public to leave, not to leave, or not to enter premises and remain at a safe distance until the area is declared safe; and
 - the need to indemnify police officers, who acting in the course of their duties, must use force to control a person initiated explosive device. 104

¹⁰² *Committee Hansard*, 21 May 2010, p. 24. Also see Gilbert & Tobin Centre of Public Law, *Submission 10*, p. 31.

^{Mr Christopher Goldsmid, Australian Federal Police,} *Committee Hansard*, 21 May 2010, p. 55.
Also see the Hon. Robert McClelland MP, Attorney-General, *House Hansard*, 18 March 2010, p. 4; Mr Ben Santamaria, Australian Federal Police Association, *Committee Hansard*, 21 May 2010, p. 35; Commander Scott Lee, Australian Federal Police, *Committee Hansard*, 21 May 2010, p. 46; and Attorney-General's Department, answer to question on notice, received 3 June 2010, pp 12-13 for similar arguments.

¹⁰⁴ *Submission* 7, pp 1-2.

3.121 The AFPA supported these suggestions and added one of its own: the need to expand proposed section 3UEA beyond an 'imminent threat to a person's life, health or safety' to include terrorist attacks on the Australian economy. Specifically:

The current amendment does not take into account the substantial economic loss to Australia that could occur if critical infrastructure was targeted in the execution of a serious crime. Such an attack may not necessarily result in a 'serious and imminent threat to a person's life, health or safety'...The proposed legislation would be enhanced by the inclusion of additional instances whereby emergency entry to premises without a warrant may occur. These instances could be based on language in the *Criminal Code 1995* (Cth) which prioritizes trade, critical infrastructure and electronic systems as key areas that require protection above and beyond any link to a person's life, health or safety. 105

Presumption against bail for terrorism offences

- 3.122 Schedule 6 amends section 15AA (Bail not to be granted in certain cases) of the Crimes Act. Proposed subsection 15AA(3A) of the Crimes Act provides both the prosecution and the defence with a right to appeal a decision to grant or refuse bail in cases of terrorism or other national security offences.
- 3.123 Some submissions and evidence supported the proposed provision but expressed concern with existing section 15AA of the Crimes Act. In their view, the presumption against bail for terrorism offences is unjustified because it either infringes on a person's right to liberty, ¹⁰⁶ or experience to date indicates that terrorism offences do not involve actual violence. ¹⁰⁷
- 3.124 In their submissions, the Law Council and Liberty Victoria drew attention to one particular feature of the proposed amendments: provision for the stay of a court order granting bail (of up to three days) if the prosecution formally indicates an intention to appeal the bail decision immediately after the decision is made (proposed subsections 15AA(3C) and 15AA(3D)).
- 3.125 The Law Council told the committee that these proposed amendments do not approach the denial of a person's liberty with the requisite degree of seriousness and detention should never be a default position:

If a person has successfully satisfied the bail authority that there are exceptional circumstances which warrant his or her release, he or she should not be denied the benefit of that decision, even for a period of three days...[I]f the Government has concerns about the capacity of bail

10

¹⁰⁵ Submission 16, p. 5.

¹⁰⁶ For example, Australian Human Rights Commission, Submission 18, p. 24.

¹⁰⁷ For example, Castan Centre for Human Rights Law, Monash University, *Submission 9*, p. 21; National Association of Community Legal Centres, *Submission 13*, p. 10; and Mr Phillip Boulten SC, Law Council of Australia, *Committee Hansard*, 21 May 2010, p. 3.

authorities at certain levels to hear and determine bail applications in terrorism cases, the appropriate response would be to amend the legislation to be more prescriptive about the level of judicial officer to whom a bail application may be made. The Government should not confer authority on an officer to make a bail decision, but then reserve the right to itself not only to appeal that decision but to have it set aside while it does so. ¹⁰⁸

3.126 Liberty Victoria agreed:

If this proposal is adopted, then any decision of a magistrate granting bail against the opposition of the Commonwealth will have to be validated by the Court of Appeal before the accused can be released from custody. We are concerned that any period of detention between the grant of bail by a judicial officer and the review of that grant by a superior court could amount to arbitrary detention.

If the Magistrates Court has jurisdiction to grant a person their liberty, then any grant should be given effect unless and until the Supreme Court finds an error with that exercise of discretion. ¹⁰⁹

3.127 The Department did not directly respond to these concerns but informed the committee that the restrictions in proposed subsection 15AA(3D) are designed in a broad sense to ensure:

...a person who has appropriately been granted bail is not unnecessarily held in custody.

Bail can be denied to protect the community, prevent the destruction of evidence and prevent the defendant from absconding. The community could be damaged, evidence lost and the defendant disappear should the defendant be released on bail before an appeal is heard. 110

3.128 In addition:

A stay period of up to three days exists under various state bail laws. For example, section 25A of the *Bail Act 1978* (NSW) and section 16 of the *Bail Act 1985* (SA). ¹¹¹

Extended notification requirements under the NSI Act

3.129 Schedule 8 amends Division 2 of Part 3 (Protection of Information whose Disclosure in Federal Criminal Proceedings is Likely to Prejudice...National Security) of the NSI Act.

109 Submission 18, p. 3.

Answer to question on notice, received 3 June 2010, p. 6.

Answer to question on notice, received 3 June 2010, p. 6.

¹⁰⁸ Submission 22, p. 20.

- 3.130 Proposed subsection 24(1) provides that the obligation to notify the Attorney-General of a prospective disclosure of national security information is imposed on the prosecutor, defendant and defendant's legal representative in federal criminal proceedings, including where a person has applied to the court for a subpoena and the issuing of that subpoena will require a third party to disclose national security information in a criminal proceeding (proposed paragraph 24(1)(c)).
- 3.131 Some submitters did not support the majority or all of the amendments proposed in Schedule 8 of the NS Bill, 112 whereas other submitters expressed concerns regarding particular proposed provisions. 113 However, proposed paragraph 24(1)(c) appeared to cause the most concern among legal stakeholders involved in the inquiry.
- 3.132 Gilbert & Tobin, for example, accepted that there is a need for a legislative regime to protect national security information beyond the protection available at common law and under the *Evidence Act 1995* (Cth). However:
 - ...there needs to be a wholesale review of the operation of the NSIA, and an assessment of other available options to protect national security information, rather than merely tinkering around the edges and making largely technical changes as the Bill does. 114
- 3.133 Gilbert & Tobin doubted that streamlining the NSI Act procedures to reduce the potential for delay and disruption to proceedings would sufficiently respond to the concerns of practitioners and judicial officers. Ms McGarrity told the committee that practitioners have raised grave concerns about having a broad and vague criminal offence provision (proposed subsection 24(1)) which carries with it a penalty of up to two years imprisonment. 115
- 3.134 The Law Council also questioned whether the proposed provision was an improvement to the NSI Act. Its representative told the committee that the amendment creates a 'scary' prospect for somebody who drafts subpoenas:

The information that is produced in response to a subpoena is already covered by the NSI Act...Now this provision will go a step further; it is actually the document that creates the offence. If you draft a schedule to a subpoena asking for particular documents to be produced to the court, and if it is thought that the list of documents itself might disclose national security information, that is a criminal offence. But in circumstances where the only people who are ever going to see the document are the lawyers

_

¹¹² For example, National Association of Community Legal Centres, Submission 13, p. 11.

¹¹³ For example, Castan Centre for Human Rights Law, Monash University, Submission 9, p. 23.

¹¹⁴ Submission 10, p. 38. Also see Sydney Centre for International Law, Submission 6, p. 27 where the centre expressed concern with the NSI Act, including its strict criminal liability provisions.

¹¹⁵ Submission 10, pp 36-38; and Committee Hansard, 21 May 2010, p. 24.

who issue it, the party who receives it and the registrar who issues or stamps the document, we think this is unnecessary—and yet scary. 116

3.135 The committee heard from the Department that the purpose of the notification requirements is to enable the Attorney-General to determine whether a criminal non-disclosure or witness exclusion certificate should be issued under the NSI Act and consequently whether a closed hearing should be held to determine the manner in which the information is handled. At present, there is no such requirement in relation to subpoenas issued by a prosecutor, defendant or defendant's legal representative:

If the notice obligations apply to a defendant's legal representative and that person intentionally does not comply with these obligations, reckless as to whether disclosure of information is likely to prejudice national security, they could be liable for an offence.

The amendments will also make it clear when notice is not required to be given to the Attorney-General. For example, if notice has already been given by someone else or there is already an agreement between the parties about how national security information should be dealt with.

It has been common practice for parties to enter such arrangements. Accordingly, in the majority of circumstances this notice obligation, and therefore the offence, will not apply. However, if the notice obligation does apply, it would not be difficult to discharge. It is simply an equivalent obligation to that which already applies to expected disclosure of security sensitive information via witness testimony or documentary evidence that is disclosed during a proceeding. ¹¹⁷

3.136 The next chapter of the committee's report will discuss the main issues raised in relation to the LE Bill and also provides the committee's conclusions and recommendations.

¹¹⁶ Mr Phillip Boulten SC, Law Council of Australia, *Committee Hansard*, 21 May 2010, pp 3-4. Also see Law Council of Australia, *Submission* 22, p. 25.

Answer to question on notice, received 3 June 2010, p. 7.

CHAPTER 4

Key issues – Parliamentary Joint Committee on Law Enforcement Bill 2010

- 4.1 Submissions and evidence regarding the LE Bill were generally supportive.
- 4.2 The Law Council, for example, welcomed the introduction of the LE Bill with its expanded oversight of both the ACC and the AFP. The Law Council noted:

In contrast to Australian intelligence agencies and the ACC, it is anomalous that the AFP is not currently subject to oversight by a dedicated parliamentary committee. To the extent that the Bill seeks to address this gap, the Law Council supports its enactment.¹

4.3 In comparison to the NS Bill, the committee received fewer submissions and less evidence with regard to specific provisions of the LE Bill. The main issues discussed in this chapter are the functions of the PJC-LE and the ability of the PJC-LE to effectively fulfil these functions.

Functions of the PJC-LE

- 4.4 Proposed subsection 7(1) of the LE Bill sets out the functions of the PJC-LE, which will include:
 - monitoring, reviewing and reporting to Parliament on the performance by the ACC and the AFP of their functions;
 - examining and reporting to Parliament on each annual report of the ACC and the AFP; and
 - examining trends and changes in criminal activities, practices and methods, and reporting to Parliament on any desirable changes to the functions, structure, powers and procedures of the ACC or the AFP.
- 4.5 Proposed subclause 7(2) clarifies that the functions of the PJC-LE exclude:
 - undertaking an intelligence operation or investigating a matter relating to a relevant criminal activity;
 - reconsidering the findings of the ACC in relation to a particular ACC operation or investigation (concluded or ongoing);

Submission 22, p. 30. Also see Police Federation of Australian, Submission 3, p. 1; Liberty Victoria, Submission 8, p. 4; Australian Human Rights Commission, Submission 18, p. 50; and Australian Crime Commission, Submission 21, p. 3.

- reviewing sensitive operational information or operational methods;
- reviewing particular operations or investigations that have been, are being or are proposed to be undertaken;
- reviewing information proved by, or by an agency of, a foreign government where that government does not consent to the disclosure of the information: or
- conducting inquiries into individual complaints about the activities of the ACC or the AFP.
- 4.6 In essence, the functions of the PJC-LE will relate to the broad operation and effectiveness of the ACC and the AFP rather than individual operations, investigations or complaints.² However, the PJC-LE may still consider information about particular operations or investigations if this is relevant to its functions.³
- 4.7 The Police Federation of Australia (PFA) submitted that proposed section 7:
 - ...strikes an appropriate balance between the scrutiny we think is warranted and the safeguards for sensitive information held by law enforcement bodies, operational matters that should not be interfered with, and exceptional circumstances where inquiries might be prejudiced or where private hearings might be more appropriate.⁴
- 4.8 However, not all submissions held this view. Liberty Victoria, for example, favoured extending the PJC-LE's functions to include all matters it considers necessary:

Openness, transparency and accountability will not be maximised if the committee is restricted in reviewing sensitive matters. It is in the interest of Australian democracy for the committee to monitor and report on the most important of matters. Courts and Royal Commissions have demonstrated that processes are available for considering sensitive matters, whilst meeting national security requirements. It is common for reports to be produced that balance the requirement to maintain confidentiality with openness.⁵

Other submissions also suggested the incorporation of additional functions 4.9 which, in their view, would improve parliamentary oversight by the PJC-LE.⁶ Some submissions, commenting more generally on the value of parliamentary oversight, questioned whether proposed subsection 7(2) actually undermines the functions set

5

Submission 8, p. 4.

² Australian Crime Commission, Submission 21, p. 3.

³ Attorney-General's Department, Submission 12, p. 4.

⁴ Submission 3, p. 1.

For example, Australian Federal Police Association, Supplementary Submission 16, p. 3; and 6 Australian Human Rights Commission, Submission 18, pp 32 and 51.

out in proposed subsection 7(1). More specifically, some submitters and witnesses questioned whether proposed sections 8 and 9 hinder or obstruct the ability of the PJC-LE to fulfil its statutory functions. 8

Ability of the PJC-LE to fulfil its functions

- 4.10 Proposed subsection 8(1) creates an obligation for the CEO of the ACC to comply with requests from the PJC-LE to provide information in relation to an ACC operation or investigation (concluded or ongoing), as well as the general performance of the ACC's functions. A similar obligation is created in proposed subsection 9(1) in relation to the Commissioner of the AFP and the AFP's operations, investigations and functions.
- 4.11 However, proposed subsections 8(2) and 9(2) provide the CEO and the Commissioner of the AFP with a discretion not to comply with the request if satisfied that:
 - the information is 'sensitive information'; and
 - the public interest that would be served by giving the information to the [PJC-LE] is outweighed by the prejudicial consequences that might result from giving the information to the [PJC-LE].
- 4.12 Proposed subsections 8(3)-(4) and 9(3)-(4) set out a process by which the PJC-LE may refer its request to the relevant minister, if the request is declined by the CEO or the Commissioner of the AFP. The relevant minister is then required to make a determination and provide a copy of the determination to the agency head and the PJC-LE. The minister is not required to disclose his or her reasons for making the determination.⁹
- 4.13 A few submissions disagreed with the proposed disclosure provisions. Some of the opposition focused on the potential of the provisions to inhibit the effectiveness of the PJC-LE. The Law Council, for example, argued:

The new Committee's effectiveness as an accountability body will ultimately depend on its ability to obtain and review accurate and comprehensive information about the AFP's and ACC's performance of their functions. ¹⁰

4.14 In particular, the ground of 'sensitive information' as a potential reason for withholding information requested by the PJC-LE drew some comment. The Law Council submitted:

For example, Dr Fergal Davis, *Submission 1*, p. 1; and Civil Liberties Australia, *Submission 14*, p. 3.

⁸ For example, Law Council of Australia, *Submission 22*, p. 30.

⁹ Proposed subsections 8(5) and 9(5) of the LE Bill.

¹⁰ Submission 22, p. 30.

Parliamentary Committees of all types frequently receive evidence of this nature and have procedures for handling such information, including receiving such information in private session, expunging such material from the transcript of evidence and forbidding publication of that evidence.¹¹

4.15 The AHRC likewise commented:

The government has not justified why provisions preventing the PJC Committee from disclosing any information obtained through the performance of its functions would not adequately deal with the Government's legitimate concern to protect sensitive information.¹²

- 4.16 In addition, the Law Council identified other concerns with the proposed disclosure provisions, for example:
 - the failure to address the concerns expressed by the (current) PJC-ACC about its inability to provide meaningful oversight of the ACC in the absence of more comprehensive information gathering powers;
 - the appropriateness of the heads of the agencies under review determining what information should be disclosed to the PJC-LE;
 - the absence of any requirement for the minister to provide reasons for his or her determination to uphold an agency's decision to withhold information from the PJC-LE; and
 - the inclusion of information that 'could prejudice a person's reputation' in the definition of sensitive information. ¹³
- 4.17 At the public hearing in Melbourne, the Law Council acknowledged that the PJC-LE model proposed in the LE Bill is an improvement on the *Australian Crime Commission Act* 2002 (ACC Act) as it will require agency heads to balance competing interests in the disclosure of information to the PJC-LE. However:

We are of the view that the balance is not yet struck properly. We think that the bill does not offer enough guidance about what information agency heads should be providing to the committee...What is more there should be some time frame involved. It is one thing to require information but another thing for the agency to say, 'We will give it to you when we are ready.' It is also, we think, preferable that the minister be the person who deals with the issue of refusing to provide the information in the first place rather than the minister be the point of review.¹⁴

12 Submission 18, p. 51.

13 Submission 22, pp 30-36.

14 Mr Phillip Boulten SC, Law Council of Australia, *Committee Hansard*, 21 May 2010, p. 4.

¹¹ Submission 22, p. 36.

4.18 In response to committee questions, a representative from the Law Council also suggested that the minister be required to provide skeleton reasons as to why information is not provided to the PJC-LE when requested:

The default position should be revelation of information. If the chief executive of an organisation decides not to reveal information to a parliamentary oversight committee, that should be a very, very rare and major event, and that sort of thing should be approved by a minister, not by the chief executive, who has an interest, some might think, in protecting the organisation against the sort of scrutiny that these committees are set up to achieve. ¹⁵

4.19 An officer from the Department told the committee that the LE Bill improves the current provisions of the ACC Act in so far as ministerial reasons are concerned because, at present, the minister must not provide reasons for the content of a determination. ¹⁶ In addition:

[The Department considers] that Agency Heads will be in a good position to assess whether the public interest in providing sensitive information to the Committee is outweighed by the prejudicial consequences that might result. The suggestion that such a decision only be made by the responsible Minister would be less flexible and efficient, and could result in more matters being referred to the Minister, impeding the Committee's ability to obtain information.

The decision not to provide information to the Committee has a high threshold. Furthermore, consistent with powers and procedures of Parliamentary committees, it would be open to agencies to negotiate alternative arrangements with the Committee, such as providing sensitive information in private hearings or in a confidential submission. In the rare event where an agency may contemplate not disclosing information due to the prejudicial consequences, it will likely be more expedient for the decision to be referred to the Agency Head (who may indeed be present at the hearing) rather than the Minister in the first instance.¹⁷

4.20 Further:

If the decision were a matter for the Minister only, this could potentially result in the unintentional consequence of the Committee being provided with less information at hearings, as officers may be inclined to take a more cautious approach and refer requests for sensitive information to the Minister for decision. The means to protect sensitive information should involve as minimal as possible disruption to normal Committee practice and procedure, and should, as far as possible, facilitate the Committee being

¹⁵ Mr Phillip Boulten SC, Law Council of Australia, *Committee Hansard*, 21 May 2010, p. 8 and p. 9.

¹⁶ Ms Laura Munsie, Attorney-General's Department, *Committee Hansard*, 21 May 2010, p. 51.

Answer to question on notice, received 3 June 2010, pp 7-8.

provided with the information it needs to perform its functions in an efficient manner. 18

4.21 Finally, the Department noted that the amendments proposed in the LE Bill are consistent with those provisions they are replacing in subsection 59(6B) of the ACC Act, which, in the Department's view, have worked well to date. 19

Committee view

- 4.22 The committee acknowledges that the reform of Australia's counter-terrorism and national security legislation is an ongoing process requiring the full cooperation of federal, state and territory governments. It is important that the reform process not be rushed and is conducted in a comprehensive manner which strives to achieve the appropriate balance between individual rights, as enshrined in national and international law, and the need to protect national security. It is equally important that measures proposed in the reform process are constitutionally supported and capable of withstanding judicial scrutiny.
- 4.23 Consistent with its earlier views, ²⁰ the committee is not entirely convinced of the need for urging violence offences within Division 80 of the Criminal Code. Evidence to the committee reiterated concerns that existing law covers the targeted behaviour and the proposed provisions have been poorly drafted, including so as to restrict freedom of speech as protected by Article 19 of the ICCPR and other international covenants. The committee understands that the proposed amendments arise from recommendations made after extensive review by the ALRC and on that basis accepts the placement of the proposed urging violence offences within Division 80 of the Criminal Code.
- 4.24 One particular query raised in evidence was the placement of proposed sections 80.2A and 80.2B (Urging violence against groups and members of groups) in Chapter 5 of the Criminal Code (Security of the Commonwealth). The committee heard that this placement will compromise the effectiveness and utility of the proposed offence provisions, which many submitters and witnesses stated are more appropriately classified as discrimination and anti-vilification offences.
- 4.25 While an argument exists for the placement of these provisions in Chapter 9 of the Criminal Code (Dangers to the community) or Part IIA of the *Racial Discrimination Act 1975*, the committee accepts the Department's evidence that proposed sections 80.2A and 80.2B are appropriately located due to their potential to impact on the security of the Commonwealth. The committee suggests however that the Department revise and reissue the Explanatory Memorandum to the NS Bill to

Answer to question on notice, received 3 June 2010, p. 8.

Senate Legal and Constitutional Legislation Committee, *Provisions of the Anti-Terrorism Bill* (No. 2) 2005, paras 5.167-5.171.

Answer to question on notice, received 3 June 2010, p. 8.

clarify the reasons for including proposed sections 80.2A and 80.2B in Chapter 5 of the Criminal Code.

- 4.26 In its inquiry into the *Provisions of the Anti-Terrorism Bill (No. 2) 2005*, the committee recommended that proposed subsection 80.3(3) of the Criminal Code be amended to remove the element of 'good faith'. ²¹ Clearly, that recommendation was not adopted. In the context of this inquiry, the committee heard that the proposed defence is illogical in its application to the proposed urging violence offences. The committee agrees and recommends that proposed subsection 80.3(3) be amended to remove the element of 'good faith'.
- 4.27 Perhaps not surprisingly, the proposed pre-charge detention provisions drew considerable comment, particularly with respect to terrorism offences. Evidence to the committee argued that the extension application procedures, particularly the withholding of certain information, might unfairly prejudice an accused. In this regard, the committee is reassured that the judicial officer determining the application will factor safeguards into consideration of the application. However, the committee especially notes concerns expressed with respect to provisions regarding investigation time and so-called 'dead time' (investigation time that can be disregarded from calculation of the investigation time).
- 4.28 Some evidence queried the maximum time permitted under the investigation time (24 hours) and, in discussing the maximum time permitted to be disregarded under the disregarded time mechanisms, it was sometimes difficult to ascertain which of the three time components was currently being discussed. In short, the overwhelming message to the committee was that the current legislative regime for pre-charge detention is complex and could be simplified to facilitate its better understanding and practical implementation.
- 4.29 The AHRC proposed that there be a maximum investigation period with only one disregarded time mechanism (relating to the particular needs of an accused). The committee considers that there is merit in this proposal. The committee notes however that there is considerable disagreement regarding the length of a maximum investigation period ranging from 24 hours to four days and to arguments that setting a cap might impede or frustrate the investigation of terrorism offences. In addition, the committee notes that there are various views regarding the retention of 'dead time' and, if retained, the maximum period of disregarded time whether that be unlimited, or in the range of 24 hours to 48 hours, or even seven days.
- 4.30 The committee heard evidence that the length of pre-charge detention must be proportionate to its need to avoid violation of Article 9 of the ICCPR, which prohibits

Senate Legal and Constitutional Legislation Committee, *Provisions of the Anti-Terrorism Bill* (*No. 2*) 2005, Recommendation 28. The committee also recommended extending the defence to include statements for journalistic, education, artistic, scientific, religious or public interest purposes which are largely reflected in the defence proposed in the NS Bill, except for a religious defence.

arbitrary detention. The committee agrees that it is highly inappropriate to detain persons for longer than is reasonably necessary and the Criminal Code should, whether the AHRC's recommendation is ultimately adopted or not, set an appropriate cap. Considering the snapshot of views heard throughout the inquiry, the committee suggests that the ALRC conduct a public inquiry into the pre-charge detention regime with a view to determining what period of pre-charge detention is 'reasonably necessary' to balance the competing interests of criminal investigations and individuals' right to liberty, as well as a straightforward legislative framework. The committee encourages the Australian Government to give proper consideration to the findings of that review. In the interim, the committee recommends that proposed subsection 23DB(11) be amended to reduce the cap on investigative 'dead time' from seven days to three days.

- 4.31 In relation to proposed section 3UEA, the committee agrees with the numerous submitters and witnesses who described warrantless entry to premises in emergency situations as a necessary invasion of privacy which must contain adequate safeguards to avoid potential abuse. The committee accepts evidence from the Department that existing and proposed safeguards are adequate.
- 4.32 Proposed subsections 15AA(3C) and 15AA(3D) concerned some submitters and witnesses. The Law Council, for example, submitted that if an accused satisfies existing and strict bail criteria, and is granted a bail order, the prosecution should not have an effective veto over the court's decision. However, the committee notes that the proposed provisions are modelled on existing state law in, for example, NSW and South Australia. Accordingly, the committee is not persuaded that the proposed provisions are inappropriate and should be removed from the NS Bill.
- 4.33 In relation to the proposed amendments in the LE Bill, the committee considers that the ability of the PJC-LE to fulfil its functions will not be hampered by the proposed non-disclosure provisions. However, the committee notes the concerns relating to the current PJC-ACC,²² as detailed in the evidence from the Law Council. To alleviate these concerns, the committee calls on the Attorney-General to provide a ministerial direction or additional materials to explain the circumstances in which the Chief Executive Officer of the Australian Crime Commission and the Commissioner of the Australian Federal Police ought to proactively report to the PJC-LE.
- 4.34 In view of the above comments, the committee makes the following recommendations.

Parliamentary Joint Committee on the Australian Crime Commission, *Inquiry into the Australian Crime Commission Amendment Act 2007*, September 2008, Chapter 4 where the PJC-ACC expressed concern with its ability to access information relevant to its oversight function.

Recommendation 1

4.35 The committee recommends that the Attorney-General's Department revise and reissue the Explanatory Memorandum to the National Security Legislation Amendment Bill 2010 to clarify the reasons for including proposed sections 80.2A and 80.2B in Chapter 5 (Security of the Commonwealth) of the Criminal Code Act 1995.

Recommendation 2

4.36 The committee recommends that proposed subsection 80.3(3) of the National Security Legislation Amendment Bill 2010 be amended to remove the element of 'good faith' from the proposed defence.

Recommendation 3

4.37 The committee recommends that the Australian Law Reform Commission conduct a public inquiry into the pre-charge detention regime. This review should examine, among other things, what period of pre-charge detention is 'reasonably necessary' to balance the competing interests of criminal investigations and individuals' right to liberty, as well as a straightforward legislative framework for a pre-charge detention regime.

Recommendation 4

- 4.38 In addition to Recommendation 3, the committee recommends that the pre-charge detention regime set out in the National Security Legislation Amendment Bill 2010 be amended to limit the amount of time that a person can be held in pre-charge detention by:
 - retaining the investigation period as set out in proposed subsection 23DB(5) and proposed section 23DB(F) (a total of 24 hours);
 - retaining the investigative dead time provisions as set out in proposed section 23DB but amending proposed subsection 23DB(11) to reflect a 3 day time limit; and
 - retaining the down time provisions relevant to the particular needs of an accused as set out in proposed subsection 23DB(9).

Recommendation 5

4.39 In relation to the Parliamentary Joint Committee on Law Enforcement Bill 2010, the committee calls on the Attorney-General to provide a ministerial direction or additional materials to explain the circumstances in which the Chief Executive Officer of the Australian Crime Commission and the Commissioner of the Australian Federal Police ought to proactively report matters to the Parliamentary Joint Committee on Law Enforcement.

Recommendation 6

4.40 Subject to the above recommendations, the committee recommends that the Senate pass the National Security Legislation Amendment Bill 2010 and the Parliamentary Joint Committee on Law Enforcement Bill 2010.

Senator Trish Crossin Chair

ADDITIONAL COMMENTS BY LIBERAL SENATORS

- 1.1 Liberal senators agree with Recommendations 1 to 3 and 5 to 6 of the committee's report. However, Liberal senators do not agree with the committee's conclusions regarding the investigative dead time proposed in subsection 23DB(11) of the National Security Legislation Amendment Bill 2010.
- 1.2 Evidence presented to the committee confirmed that there is general support for limiting the amount of time a person can be held in pre-charge detention. The evidence also demonstrated fundamental disagreement regarding the form and extent of that limitation, the latter of which was essentially based upon the weighting assigned to national security and counter-terrorism interests as opposed to individual rights.
- 1.3 Liberal senators are mindful of the nature and purpose of the bill and, in this instance, prefer the evidence received from law enforcement agencies, which are best placed to determine what legislative support they currently require for the effective investigation of security and terrorism offences.
- 1.4 At the public hearing, the Australian Federal Police (AFP) described its operational requirements in detail and in context:

Terrorism presents a high risk to public safety and terrorism investigations are often undertaken with minimal lead time or prior knowledge. These investigations must be thorough and broad ranging. They often involve multiple suspects, the execution of multiple search warrants, considerable forensic analysis and significant inquiries and liaising with Australian and overseas partners. It is essential in this pre-charge detention that there is sufficient time for us to conduct those inquiries to ensure the proper interviewing and charging of the arrested person and any associates, the protection of the public and the prevention of terrorist acts or potential further terrorist acts should an act have already occurred.¹

1.5 The AFP supported the seven day cap proposed in subsection 23DB(11) and told the committee that, in the AFP's view, the proposed provision strikes the appropriate balance between the rights of an arrested person and the needs of law enforcement. ²

¹ Commander Scott Lee, Australian Federal Police, Committee Hansard, 21 May 2010, p. 46.

² Commander Scott Lee, Australian Federal Police, Committee Hansard, 21 May 2010, p. 46.

1.6 In its evidence, the Attorney-General's Department (Department) affirmed that its position in drafting the bill was to strike such a balance.³ However, a representative also noted the necessity for a flexible and appropriate time limit within the dead time provisions:

[I]f there is a set cap that is set too low...law enforcement officials may feel pressured to do things more quickly and perhaps infringe on some of those things that the suspect needs in order to keep [the] investigation done within the time frame that [officers] have.⁴

- 1.7 In the Department's view, the AFP's evidence justified a seven day cap. Officers also noted the existing and further provision of legislative safeguards designed to protect the rights of an individual in pre-charge detention.⁵
- 1.8 The AFP told the committee that:

[The Haneef] experience shows that specified time provisions provide police with a flexible framework and sufficient oversight for pre-charge detention where the investigation is undertaken with limited lead in time.⁶

1.9 Similarly, the Australian Crime Commission supported a seven day cap on investigative dead time as proposed in the bill:

In the absence of experience to suggest that the necessary information gathering tasks would invariably be capable for completion in a shorter period, the A[ustralian]C[rime]C[omission] considers it would not be prudent at the present time to impose a shorter limit.⁷

- 1.10 Liberal senators consider it important that the Australian Government enables and facilitates national security and counter-terrorism investigations. The evidence from law enforcement agencies states that they require investigative dead time provisions which are both flexible and allow for a maximum of seven days pre-charge detention. If the bill fails to satisfy these requirements, Liberal senators understand that the investigation process might be jeopardised.
- 1.11 Liberal senators therefore support proposed subsection 23DB(11) of the bill and do not agree with Recommendation 4 in the committee report.

6 Answer to questions on notice, received 4 June 2010, p. 2.

³ Ms Annette Willing, Attorney-General's Department, *Committee Hansard*, 21 May 2010, p. 48.

⁴ Ms Annette Willing, Attorney-General's Department, *Committee Hansard*, 21 May 2010, p. 52.

⁵ Answer to questions on notice, received 3 June 2010, p. 4.

Answer to questions on notice, received 1 June 2010, p. 1.

Senator Guy Barnett Deputy Chair **Senator Stephen Parry**

DISSENTING REPORT BY AUSTRALIAN GREENS

- 1.1 The National Security Legislation Amendment Bill 2010 proposes a large number of complex changes to the *Criminal Code Act 1995*, the *Crimes Act 1914*, the *Charter of the United Nations Act 1945*, the *National Security Information (Criminal and Civil Proceedings) Act 2004*, and the *Inspector General of Intelligence and Security Act 1986*.
- 1.2 The Australian Greens believe that the recommendations made by the Committee barely begin to address the concerns expressed by legal experts and institutions that participated in the inquiry.
- 1.3 Nor does the Committee's recommendations allay the concerns expressed by the Senate Scrutiny of Bills Committee May 2010 Alert Digest which outlines repeated instances where this legislation inappropriately delegates powers, trespasses unduly on personal rights and liberties, removes parliamentary oversight and general reporting requirements to the Parliament.
- 1.4 This legislation and this inquiry have merely tinkered with long awaited reform. The evidence of one legal professor who noted, "This appears to have been drafted in haste and poorly, to be honest," and correctly characterised the Bill as, "legislation as symbolism rather than legislation actually to deal with an issue."
- 1.5 The Committee recently engaged in analysis of the anti-terrorism laws, holding an inquiry into my Anti-Terrorism Laws Reform Bill 2009. While declining to make recommendations the Committee submitted the detailed analysis and numerous recommendations for improvements to the broader review process being conducted by the Attorney General.
- 1.6 There is no evidence whatsoever that this material was taken into consideration on any substantive issue. Proposals to improve accountability of rapidly expanding agencies like ASIO, and bringing our legal frameworks back into line with long established principles of the rule of law have been summarily dismissed.
- 1.7 The overwhelming number of detailed submissions and evidence provided to this inquiry registered profound disappointment at the minimal extent to which the government has considered the constructive criticism on the measures proposed or the numerous suggestions for improvements.

¹ Dr. Patrick Emerton, Committee Hansard, 21 May 2010, p. 30.

² Dr. Patrick Emerton, Committee Hansard, 21 May 2010, p. 32.

- 1.8 As the submission of The Gilbert + Tobin Centre of Public Law and University of New South stated, of the 267 amendments to Australia's anti-terrorism legislation proposed in the Bill, only 66 of these reflect changes made since the Exposure Draft, and most of these 66 changes can be described as technical as opposed to substantive changes.³
- 1.9 This inquiry provides yet more evidence of concerns expressed in the national press and elsewhere that independent legal advice is simply not valued by the government. In the wake of significant funding cuts to the Australian Law Reform Commission it is somewhat ironic that the Committee tasks the ALRC with an inquiry into pre-charge detention.
- 1.10 Such an Inquiry by the ALRC would at least be duplicative of the Council of Australian Governments (COAG) review of the operation of terrorism-related laws that were introduced in 2004 that is scheduled to start in December 2010. This review will cover the laws in the Crimes Act 1914 and the Criminal Code Act 1995 allowing broader police powers, control orders, preventative detention orders, as well as the definition of terrorist organisation and terrorist financing provisions.
- 1.11 The Independent National Security Legislation Monitor is the office best tasked with reviewing the provisions and procedures in our anti-terrorism legislation. That is its very function.
- 1.12 The need for an Independent National Security Legislation Monitor to scrutinise the large body of legislation relating to terrorism has been broadly supported for a number of years and is finally to be established in the coming months. This office does have the potential to play an extremely important role ascertaining whether the anti-terrorism laws are necessary and proportionate, and are actually meeting the stated objective of protecting Australians from terrorist violence.
- 1.13 The Greens believe that given the function of the Independent National Security Legislation Monitor is to review the operation, effectiveness and implications of our anti-terrorism laws, the Monitor should review the proposals in this Bill before the Senate debates it.
- 1.14 To this end the Committee should forward to the Independent National Security Legislation Monitor this report, the Hansard transcripts and submissions to the inquiry to assist the Monitor in analysing the government's proposed changes to the anti-terrorism laws.

Recommendation 1:

1.15 That the Senate defer debate on this legislation until such time as the Independent National Security Legislation Monitor has reviewed and issued a report on this legislation.

-

³ Gilbert + Tobin Centre of Public Law, Submission 10, p. 8.

Senator Scott Ludlam

Australian Greens

APPENDIX 1

SUBMISSIONS RECEIVED

Submission

Number	Submitter		
1	Dr Fergal Davis		
2	Executive Council of Australian Jewry		
3	Police Federation of Australia		
4	Commonwealth Ombudsman		
5	Dr Katharine Gelber		
6	Sydney Centre for International Law		
7	Victoria Police		
8	Liberty Victoria		
9	Castan Centre for Human Rights Law, Monash University		
10	Gilbert + Tobin Centre of Public Law		
	Attachment 1		
	Attachment 2		
11	Australian Lawyers for Human Rights		
12	Attorney-General's Department		
13	National Association of Community Legal Centres		
	Attachment 1		
	Attachment 2		
	Attachment 3		
14	Civil Liberties Australia		
15	Human Rights Law Resource Centre and Amnesty International		
16	Australian Federal Police Association		

	Supplementary Submission
17	Australian Law Reform Commission
18	Australian Human Rights Commission
19	NSW Department of Premier and Cabinet
20	Nicholas Petrie, Samuel Peirce, Samuel Flynn, Claire Bongiorno, Patrick Magee, Louise Brown and Grace Jennings-Edquist
21	Australian Crime Commission
22	Law Council of Australia
23	Law Society of NSW

TABLED DOCUMENTS

- 1. Document tabled at public hearing by the Australian Federal Police Association in Melbourne on Friday, 21 May 2010
- 2. Document tabled at public hearing by the National Association of Community Legal Centres (NACLC) in Melbourne on Friday, 21 May 2010

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION RECEIVED

- 1. Answers to Questions on Notice provided by the Australian Crime Commission on 1 June 2010
- 2. Answers to Questions on Notice provided by the Attorney-General's Department on 3 June 2010
- 3. Answers to Questions on Notice provided by the Australian Federal Police on 4 June 2010

APPENDIX 2

WITNESSES WHO APPEARED BEFORE THE COMMITTEE

BOULTEN, Mr Phillip, SC, Member, National Criminal Law Liaison Committee, Law Council of Australia

BRANSON, The Hon Catherine QC, President, Australian Human Rights Commission

BUDAVARI, Ms Rosemary, Co-Director, Criminal Law and Human Rights, Law Council of Australia

BYRNES, Ms Bronwyn, Lawyer, Legal Section, Australian Human Rights Commission

DE VEAU, Ms Philippa, National Manager, Australian Crime Commission

DEGER, Mr Bahoz, Member, Kurdish Association of Victoria

EMERTON, Dr Patrick, Associate, Castan Centre for Human Rights Law

GALLUCIO, Ms Julia, Principal Legal Officer, Attorney-General's Department

GELBER, Associate Professor Katharine, Private capacity

GOLDSMID, Federal Agent Christopher, Coordinator, Legislation Program, Australian Federal Police

HUNT-SHARMAN, Mr Jonathan, National President, Australian Federal Police Association

LEE, Commander Scott, Manager, Counter-Terrorism Domestic, Australian Federal Police.

McGARRITY, Ms Nicola, Private capacity

MUNSIE, Ms Laura, Principal Legal Officer, Attorney-General's Department

NICHOLSON, Ms Sarah, Policy Officer, National Association of Community Legal Centres

PARAMESWARAN, Mr Mathavan, Private capacity

SANTAMARIA, Federal Agent Ben, Zone Coordinator, Federal Investigations and Office Operations Support Zone, Australian Federal Police Association

SANTOW, Mr Edward, Private capacity

WILLIAMS, Professor George, Private capacity

WILLING, Ms Annette, Assistant Secretary, Security Law Branch, Attorney-General's Department